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Friday, March 4, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  My name is Marika Hare.  I am the presiding member for this hearing.  Sitting with me are Board Members Paul Sommerville and Karen Taylor.

The Board has convened this morning to hear two applications, each of which concerns a request by the respective applicant for the approval of six DSM programs - sorry, CDM programs.

The first is an application by Hydro One Brampton Networks, which bears Board File No. EB-2010-0331.  Hydro One Brampton seeks Board approval of six conservation and demand management programs.  These are:  community education events, neighbourhood benchmarking, monitoring and targeting, small commercial energy management and load control, municipal and hospital energy efficiency performance and double return plus.

Hydro One Brampton seeks funding of $7.9 million during the 2011 to 2014 period for these six programs.  The Board's approval, if granted, will enable payments from the independent system operation, in accordance with section 78.5 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Hydro One Networks Inc. seeks approval for the same six programs as Hydro One Brampton.  This application bears Board File No. EB-2010-0332.

Hydro One Networks seeks $32 million to fund these CDM programs for the period from 2011 to 2014.

With respect to the logistics of this proceeding, we will first turn to the Board's letter of March 2nd, which indicated that the Board, as a preliminary matter, wanted to hear submissions on four issues.

The first two were suggested by the Consumers Council of Canada, and these are:
"The extent to which these applications are governed by the 'just and reasonable' standard established in s. 78(2) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998;
"The extent to which the Board can consider in this application the costs of Ontario Power Authority ('OPA') CDM programs that are being acquired by HONI, and whether any 'rates' resulting from these programs are just and reasonable."


The additional two issues were put forward by the Board, and these are:
"Have the OPA's CDM programs been 'established' as contemplated in section 7 of the minister's Directive dated March 31, 2010?  If not, what impact does this have on the current proceedings?  Is the application premature?"


Second:
"Section 3.1.4(a) of the Board's CDM Code requires an applicant for Board approved CDM programs to file a program evaluation plan, based on the OPA's EM&V protocols.  Although HONI has filed a draft evaluation plan template for each program, it has not filed a complete evaluation plan and in this respect, the application could be considered incomplete.  It intends to prepare a complete plan with the assistance of a third-party expert after Board approval of any programs.  In addition, the OPA's protocols are still in draft form.  What implications, if any, should this have on the hearing process and the Board's consideration of the request for approval of the programs?  Should the Board adjourn the hearing until a complete evaluation plan is filed, or the OPA's protocols are finalized?"


Therefore, following appearances, the Board will ask submissions by the parties on these four questions.  May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, my name is Michael Engelberg.  I am here representing Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc. and Hydro One Networks Inc., the applicants in these two proceedings, and I have with me Mr. Ian Malpass, who is director regulatory affairs at Hydro One Networks Inc.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Madam Chair and Panel, good morning.  My name is Tom Brett, and I am here representing the Canadian Energy Efficiency Alliance, and I have with me Marion Fraser from Fraser & Associates.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Basil Alexander, counsel for Pollution Probe, and with me is Jack Gibbons.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. POCH:  David Poch for the Green Energy Coalition.

MR. HUGHES:  Madam Chair, Jack Hughes for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. SILK:  Dana Silk, EnviroCentre.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and with me is Mark Rubenstein, who is a student in our office.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker and Shelley Grice for AMPCO.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.

MR. ABOUCHAR:  Juli Abouchar for LIEN, as well as Judy Simon.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

MS. DADE:  Christine Dade representing PowerStream.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined by Josh Wasylyk.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Before we hear submissions on the four issues that I have previously outlined, are there any other preliminary matters?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, you probably want to deal with this later, but we will be asking today that the Board order delivery to the parties of the TRC spreadsheets and the full budgets for the CDM program at Hydro One, which were asked and refused at the technical conference.

We feel that it would be useful to get those out of the way as quickly as possible, because we're going to have to look at them before we can ask questions about them.  I understand that you will probably want to hear the submissions first before we deal with that, but I am giving you a heads-up.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Okay, let's proceed, then, to submissions on the four questions that have been posed previously.  I think CCC will start.  Is that correct, Mr. Warren?
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  It is, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.

Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, the burden of the submissions I will make is the following.  First, the question is:  What test should the Board apply in considering the CDM programs?

And, in my respectful submission, the test should be known in advance before proceeding with the matter.

My second point will be that the test is that contained in section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act; namely, whether or not these programs and the costs resulting from them are just and reasonable, and then the question that follows from that is:  What is the content of the just and reasonable test in these circumstances?

The starting point, in my submission, is an understanding of exactly what it is that Hydro One Networks -- I will make my submissions with respect to Hydro One Networks, but they apply to Brampton, as well.  Indeed, they apply to all of the applications by utilities that may fall under this rubric in the future.

The essence of what Hydro One Networks is applying for is, first of all, they're applying for approval of the programs and they're applying for approval of the funding for those programs.

The essence of what they're doing is they are asking the Board for the approval of costs which will be recovered from ratepayers.  That is, if you wish, the generic core of what it is they're doing.

The fact that those costs will be recovered through the global adjustment mechanism and that the Board is not considering specific rates in this case, is, in my submission, neither here nor there.  The costs approved by the Board will be recovered from ratepayers in their rates, albeit indirectly.

Now, I have put before you for convenience what I will call the regulatory framework, which are the materials to which I will be making reference.  They are commonly known, but for ease of reference I have put them in one booklet.  At tab 1 of those materials --


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren, I have not circulated or marked those yet, so we will do that.  This will be CCC's compendium of materials on the preliminary issues.  We will call it Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CCC COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS ON PRELIMINARY ISSUES. 

MR. MILLAR:  And Madam Chair, if I may, Mr. Alexander has also prepared a booklet, and it may well be that -- I am not sure where he will be in the order, but some of the documents he has may be referred to by other parties.  So I would suggest we mark those now, as well, with your permission.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  He has two documents.  One is a cross-examination reference book, though I understand he may refer to it in his preliminary arguments.

We can call that K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book.

MR. MILLAR:  He has also helpfully prepared some statutory excerpts that I understand he and perhaps others will refer to in their preliminary comments.

We will call that K1.3, and I will bring up copies for the panel.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  POLLUTION PROBE STATUTORY EXCERPTS.

[Mr. Millar passes copies of exhibits to 

Board Panel Members.]

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please continue.

MR. WARREN:  My first point of reference is the legislative material which is contained at tab 1 of my brief.  I make reference first to subsection 78(2) of the act, which provides as follows:
"No distributor shall charge for the distribution of electricity or for meeting its obligations under section 29 of the Electricity Act, 1998 except in accordance with an order of the Board, which is not bound by the terms of any contract."

I pause to note that historically in utility applications, the cost of CDM programs has been considered a component of the distribution of electricity.

Subsection 78(3) provides that:

"The Board may make orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the transmitting or distributing of electricity or such other activity as may be prescribed and for the retailing of electricity in order to meet a distributor’s obligations under section 29 of the Electricity Act..."

The distribution of electricity -- sorry, the function distribution has historically been regarded as containing CDM in a variety of conservation programs.

In exercising its jurisdiction under subsection 78(2) of the act, the Board embarks on what has been described as a prudency review. 

Now, for -- this is in the category of really stating the obvious, but I include at tab 4 of the booklet of materials a decision of the Ontario Court of Appeal in the case of Great Lakes Power Limited and the Ontario Energy Board.

And if the Board would refer to paragraph 22 on page 7 of that decision, the Court of Appeal states, with great respect to the Court of Appeal, what is evident:

"A public utility must undergo a prudency review before passing along its costs to consumers."

A prudency review would, in the ordinary course, entail, among other things, an examination of whether the proposed costs were necessary for the safe and reliable distribution of electricity, whether the proposed costs could be reduced, and whether the overall impact of the costs on ratepayers was reasonable. 

It would also entail a review of the objectives set out by the Legislature in section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act. 

In the context of this application, Hydro One Networks' application, it would, as I say, in the ordinary course entail an examination of whether, for example, spending $32 million on these CDM programs was either necessary or reasonable in light of the money spent on the OPA programs, and whether it was reasonable in relation to all of the other costs incurred by Hydro One Networks in the distribution of electricity.


The question, then, is whether or not other statutory provisions have narrowed or changed the nature of the Board's enquiry. 

The starting point for that, examining that question, is section 78.5 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, which is also in the materials.

Section 78.5 of the act provides, and I quote:

"(1) The IESO shall make payments to a distributor or to the OPA on behalf of other persons prescribed by the regulations with respect to amounts approved by the Board for conservation and demand management programs approved by the Board pursuant to a directive issued under section 27.2."

Then subsection (2) of 78.5 provides:

"The amount and timing of each payment referred to in subsection (1) shall be determined by the Board in accordance with such rules, methods and criteria as may be prescribed by the regulations or mandated by a code issued by the Board or an order of the Board."

The first observation I would make about section 78.5 is that it provides no guidance to the Board as to how the discretion granted to it is to be exercised.  It delegates to the Board the determination of the criteria to be used in approving CDM programs, such CDM programs as has been mandated.

Now, there are, I think, arguably two alternate views of what section 78.5 means.

The first view is that it prescribes purely a payment mechanism.  Costs of CDM programs are to be paid through the global adjustment mechanism.  The global adjustment mechanism, the contents of it are ultimately recovered from ratepayers in their rates.  So the Board is, in effect, approving amounts to be recovered in rates under section 78.2 and 3.

The alternate view of section 78.5 is that it prescribes a separate approval mechanism, that is separate from 78.2 and 3, which in turn requires the establishment of criteria for the approval process. 

I then turn to the directive provisions of the act, which are sections 27.1 and 2, and for purposes of my submission, the relevant one is section 27.2. 
Excuse me.  It provides, first, in subsection (1):
"The Minister may issue, and the Board shall implement, directives that have been approved by the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council that require the Board to take steps specified in the directive to establish conservation and demand management targets to be met by distributors and other licensees."

And then subsection (2):

"To promote conservation and demand management, a directive may require the Board to specify, as a condition of a licence, the conservation targets associated with those specified in the directive, and the targets shall be apportioned by the Board between distributors and other licensees in accordance with the directive." 

Now, the directive is delegated legislation, if you wish, and it authorizes the minister to issue a directive, so that we turn, then, to the question of what it is that the directive has provided.

I note in passing that these sections provide no criteria for the exercise of the Board's discretion in approving conservation and demand management. 

If you turn, then, to tab 2 of my materials, which are the directives –- sorry, the directive, singular. 

It requires the Board, first, to amend the licence of each distributor by adding a condition that specifies each distributor must meet its CDM targets through the delivery of CDM programs –- sorry, Board-approved CDM programs.  There is, I note in passing, nowhere a definition of what constitutes a Board-approved CDM program -- there is a certain circularity to all of this -- or the delivery of CDM programs made available by the OPA, or some combination of the two.

If the Board would then turn to section 6 on page 3 of the directive:
"The Board shall issue a code that includes", among other things, "rules relating to the reporting requirements and performance incentives associated with CDM Programs and to the planning, design..."

And I underscore the following word: 

"...approval, implementation and the evaluation, measurement and verification ('EM&V') of Board-Approved CDM Programs and to such other matters as the Board considers appropriate."

So to follow the chain, section 27 authorizes the minister to issue a directive.  A directive is issued, requiring the Board to issue a code.  The code says that, among other things –- sorry, the directive says that the code is to contain something with respect to approval.


It is an open question whether or not the -- in my submission, whether or not approval is with respect to the mechanism for getting approval or to the contents of the criteria to obtain the approval.

"In developing such rules" -- and I continue with section 6 of the directive.
"In developing such rules, the Board shall have regard to the following objectives of the government in addition to such other factors as the Board considers appropriate."


I take you down to subsection (f), which reads:
"that the Board shall require distributors to use OPA cost-effectiveness tests, as modified by the OPA from time to time, for assessing the cost-effectiveness of Board-Approved Programs."


I note, in passing, it would be my submission that this directive does not say that cost-effectiveness is the criterion that the Board is to use in approving these CDM programs.

It would be my submission that meeting the cost-effectiveness test is a condition precedent to consideration of whether to approve it, but it is not in and of itself the criterion the Board is to use.

I then turn -- ask the Panel to turn to section 8 of the directive on the following page.  "The Board shall" -- sorry, subsection 7, which is relevant to one of the issues raised by the Board:
"The Board shall not approve CDM Programs until OPA-contracted Province-Wide CDM Programs have been established."

But for purposes of my submission on the first two tests, section 8 is the relevant one:
"The Board shall in approving Board-Approved CDM Programs, continue to have regard to its statutory objectives, including protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices."

So to follow the chain of analysis, the directive has said to the Board create a code, but it is silent on the criteria the Board is to use in approving these CDM programs.

I then turn to the next tab, which is tab 3, which is the Board's code.  And I ask that the Board turn up section 3.4.1:
"The Board will consider any application filed under section 3.1 and make any determinations that it considers appropriate."

"Any determinations that it considers appropriate".  It has left to itself essentially an open-ended discretion.
"If the Board approves a CDM program pursuant to an application filed under section 3.1, such approval will include a determination regarding the amount and timing of payments to be made by the IESO under section 78.5 of the Act in relation to the Board-Approved CDM Program."


Now, to parse that section, it would appear, from the wording of it, first, that the Board is granting itself, as I have said, essentially an open-ended discretion.  Secondly, it says it appears to distinguish between the approval on the one hand, and the determination of the amount and timing of payments to be made by the IESO.

In other words, those are separate from, but a component of, the approval which is to have been granted.

Subsection 4.1.1:
"A distributor may only apply to the Board for the approval of CDM programs that are cost effective.  Cost effectiveness shall be measured by using the OPA's Cost Effectiveness Tests."


It is my submission - I will repeat this somewhat later on - the cost-effectiveness criteria is a precondition to the Board's consideration of the OPA's -- sorry, the CDM programs, but is not in and of itself, and certainly by no means the only test the Board is to apply.

The final step in this, although nothing turns on it, is - I apologize, something may turn on it - is at tab 5 of the materials, which is the decision and order of the Board, which requires an amendment to the licences to include the CDM target and the requirement that they be met.

None of the OEB Act, the directive, or the code specify the criteria the Board is to use in approving CDM programs.  The Board must set criteria for the exercise of its discretion.  No regulatory agency has an open-ended discretion, and the -- in approving the rates -- sorry, approving these programs, the Board must be guided by the objectives of the Ontario Energy Board Act and any policy directives which have been issued by the government.

So the question, then is:  What are the relevant criteria?  In my respectful submission, the governing criteria are those in section 78 of the Act; namely, are these programs and the resulting costs just and reasonable?

There is no other criteria that is specified.  In the absence of that, the one in the legislation, "just and reasonable" applies.

So the question then is:  What is the content of "just and reasonable" in these circumstances?  And in determining that, the Board and all of the parties must look to the purpose of the statute and any constraining factors that are in the statute.

Now, what are the constraining factors in the statute?  I suppose the threshold question is:  Has the Board's traditional consideration of "just and reasonable" been constrained by anything which is found in the act?

First of all, the directives are binding on the Board.  The directive requires Hydro One Networks to establish CDM targets.  It has to undertake the programs.  It is also now a condition of its licence.  So, arguably, the Board cannot find that spending on the CDM programs is imprudent.

A second consideration is whether the Board can look at the spending, in the context of Hydro One Networks' overall spending, and determine that the spending on CDM programs -- sorry, or the other areas should be reduced to offset the effect of the CDM programs.

Now, I concede in making this submission that this is an academic consideration, given that the spending on the other programs is not before the Board in this case.  The Board has recently issued a decision on that.

But it illustrates the dilemma that all of us find ourselves in in trying to determine what is the content of "just and reasonable" in this case.

Can the Board examine the spending in relation to the OPA's spending?  Is the OPA spending achieved -- would the OPA spending by itself achieve the targets?  And this necessarily involves an examination of the OPA programs.

I understand and acknowledge that the Board is not sitting today to determine the prudency of the OPA programs.  That is not before it.

Question 2 that I posed to the Board is:  Whether or not, in deciding that the Hydro One CDM programs are just and reasonable, the Board can have regard to what is being spent on the OPA programs?

Negatively, the criteria is not just cost-effectiveness.  That is only a condition precedent to the filing of the application, and if it were just cost-effectiveness, then the Board would be engaged largely in an administrative as opposed to a quasi-judicial exercise.  It would be determining whether or not these programs met the OPA criteria.  If they did, check off that box; the programs are approved.

The Board is doing something more than this.  Indeed, the legislature has said you have to have regard to the criteria, the objectives in section 1 of the act.  In other words, you are engaged in something obviously more than a purely administrative exercise.

In addition, the criteria are not simply compliance with the code.  If it were simply a matter of approving these things if they complied with the code, it would be an administrative matter, a check list matter.  But your own code says such matters as you determine to be appropriate, and, with great respect, the Board hasn't said what matters it considers to be appropriate, and that is incumbent on the Board to do that before it proceeds.

At the end of the day, members of the Panel, I don't have any fixed view on what the content of what the "just and reasonable" test should be in this case.

However, in my submission, this hearing should not proceed until there has been a determination by the Board, based on the submissions from all of the parties, of what the tests are.

With respect to the issues raised by the Board, the first is, well, framed broadly:  This hearing should not proceed until the programs are in place, until the Board is satisfied the programs are in place, and in addition to the code requirement that the EMV programs be in place.

As I read the letter from the OPA last night, it would appear that the first consideration has been met; namely, that the programs are effectively now in place.

However, as I also read that letter, the EMV protocols are not in place.  They're only in draft form, and, in my respectful submission, the Board should not proceed until those protocols are in place and the Board has an opportunity to consider them in this proceeding.

Those are my submissions on the preliminary issues.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, is there an order that was agreed to in terms of who goes next?

MR. MILLAR:  We did have some preliminary discussions.  I had volunteered to go next so that other parties would have an opportunity to respond to what Staff said. 

I don't think everyone here was involved in that discussion, so someone else may argue they want to go before me, but I am certainly happy to go next. 

MS. HARE:  Is everybody content with Board Staff going next?  Thank you.

Yes.  Please proceed.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will start with just some quick responses to Mr. Warren's submissions. 

We did not prefile submissions, of course, in this case, and Mr. Warren helpfully provided a letter which outlined the gist of his position, but I have a more nuanced view of it now.  It is my understanding -- I don't know if you are planning on giving a right of reply, or this may be something he can confirm through a counsel who comes after me -- I had initially thought that the question he put to the Board or the challenge he raised is the Board actually did not have jurisdiction to act in this case.

As I hear his submissions, I am not quite sure that that is what he's suggesting.  I think what he is saying is the Board either has to or very much should describe the test that it will be using in assessing these applications. 

If he can give a yes or a no to that now, that would be helpful. 

MR. WARREN:  I think there are interesting questions about whether or not the authority has been properly delegated to the Board.  I am not raising those questions in my submission. 

In my submission, the Board has the jurisdiction to proceed.  However, it must determine what the tests are before it does so.

I hope that helps, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it does.  Thank you very much.  Others may raise that issue, so I will touch on it, at least in passing. 

I am going to deal with all four of the preliminary questions.  I will probably group them as the Board has done in the letter, the first two being what I will call the CCC issues, and then the Board's own questions. 

Hearing Mr. Warren, I think it is odd.  I actually don't agree with much of his analysis but we sort of end up at the same place, and let me explain that. 

It is the position of Board Staff that any approvals given by this Board in this proceeding will fall under Section 78.5, either subsection (1) or (2).  He has already read those to you and you have those sections in your materials.

In Staff's view, these are not applications under section 78, sub (2) or (3), and the just and reasonable test does not, strictly speaking, apply, or at least you can't crib those words themselves into section 78.5. 

Now, there appears to be a suggestion by some parties -- and maybe I am incorrect in this -- but there appears to be a suggestion that this setup is in some sense improper or even -- I don't think I have seen the word "illegal" but improper somehow.  Section 78(2) provides that:

"No distributor shall charge for the distribution of electricity... except in accordance with an order of the Board."

And then section 78(3) is where you get the terminology "just and reasonable".

And I think it is fair to say the position we certainly heard from CCC is that this means that the term "just and reasonable" must apply, is the test for you in the current applications.

Staff does not agree with this position.

In the first instance, there is probably some question regarding whether or not the GAM is an electricity distribution charge at all.  I do take what Mr. Warren has said, that certainly in the past, the Board has accepted that CDM, writ large, is a distribution activity, at least in the sense that we have approved rate recovery through section 78(2) and (3) under electricity, and I guess also section 36 for the gas utilities. 

But I am not going to focus on that. 

What has happened is through the Green Energy Act, the legislature has chosen to create a separate authority for the Board to approve CDM programs pursuant to the directive and the code.  This is the legislature's prerogative, and there is frankly nothing improper about that.  It simply means that the Board's powers in this case derive from section 78.5 and not section 78(3). 

It is therefore our position that you can't simply lift the term "just and reasonable" and apply it to this case.

Now, however, I am going to suggest to you that this is a distinction without much of a difference, and let me explain. 

The term "just and reasonable" - and Mr. Warren touched on this - can be notoriously difficult to define.  It has been discussed in many decisions of the Board, and indeed before the courts.  Mr. Warren has taken you to some of those.

What I am going to suggest to you that it ultimately boils down to, however, is what has been described in some cases as the regulatory compact, the requirement that the tribunal balance the interests of the utility with those of ratepayers.

Put simply, a utility is entitled to recover its reasonably incurred costs, and the ratepayer is to be protected from the utility's monopoly position and required to pay no more than a fair price for the service it provides.

The devil, of course, is often in the details in these cases, and that is what many of our rates cases are about, determining how that balance is to be struck, but I think most parties would agree that that is the overriding principle in a just and reasonable case.

Now, if I understand the concern of some of the ratepayer groups, it is that absent this just and reasonable rates protection, the Board will not be required or perhaps even permitted to consider the impacts of these programs on ratepayers. 

However, it is my submission that a review of the entire regulatory scheme with regard to these CDM programs makes it clear that the Board will have to consider the interests of ratepayers in this application.  In fact, I am even going to suggest to you what Staff feels the overall test should be.

Now, the reason for this is that both the act and the directive and, in fact, the code specifically require that the interests of ratepayers be considered. 

Although section 78(3) itself does not apply here, the application is still subject to the Board's objectives with respect to electricity under section 1 of the act. 

I am not sure if that is actually provided in the materials, but you will be well familiar with it.  It is the very first objective, and that is that the Board will protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices. 

That applies here.  I don't think there is any question about it.

I could also direct you to section 8 of the directive itself -- Mr. Warren took you here -- where it says:

"The Board shall in approving Board-approved CDM programs continue to have regard to its statutory objectives, including protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices."

It is specifically itemized there.

And then when you look at the code - again, Mr. Warren took you here - section 4.1, at least, requires that the Board follow the cost-effectiveness test.  And I will speak about that a little bit more.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, did you say that it requires the Board to follow the cost-effectiveness test? 

MR. MILLAR:  If you look at section 4.1 -- and maybe it is put not quite as straightforward as that -- 4.1.1:

"A distributor may only apply to the Board for the approval of CDM programs that are cost-effective."

I recognize that is not specifically saying ratepayer interest, but there is a tie-in to the code itself. 

So it is Staff's position that there is no question this Panel has to take into account ratepayer protection, ratepayer impacts, costs, however you want to define it.  There is no question you have to consider that in this application. 

Now, in spite of these protections, of course, the Board has to recognize Hydro One's interests in the position that it is in. 

Hydro One really has no choice but to pursue CDM programs in some venue.  They are required by their licence to hit certain targets, and they don't really have the option of saying:  We are not going to do that.

So I don't think it would be legitimate for any party to come forward and say:  Board, you should simply reject all CDM programs, simply because it is going to -- there is going to be a bill impact for ratepayers.  I don't think that argument can fly, because frankly, Hydro One has no choice but to pursue CDM programs.

Now, so where does this all leave us?

In Staff's submission the appropriate test to be applied in this case is essentially two-fold. 

First, the cost-effectiveness test; has Hydro One demonstrated that the proposed programs are cost-effective?  You are somewhat limited in your analysis of this, because the directive provides that the OPA's cost-effectiveness tests are to apply, but still, that is the purpose of those tests.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was the purpose of my initial question, Mr. Millar.  You seem to be suggesting that the Board is limited to that cost-effectiveness test; is that the position that you are taking? 

MR. MILLAR:  In my view, the test is two-fold.  The first is the cost-effectiveness, and I think you are required to use the OPA's cost-effectiveness test in that regard.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Doesn't the directive say the utility is required to use it?  It doesn't say that we have to use it.  It says that the utility has to use it. 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that we're --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It's section 6, sub (f), and maybe I will read it.  It says what it says.  It says that:

"The Board shall require distributors to use OPA cost-effectiveness tests as modified by the OPA from time to time."

So I suppose you are quite right.  It doesn't actually say the Board shall do that.

Again, the code itself, which was passed by the Board, does require them to at least run their programs through that cost-effectiveness test.

I suppose you are right that there is no single provision saying the Board must use them, so I take your point there. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  But I think there is more to the test than simply that, and perhaps I can put it this way. 

The Board has a responsibility to ensure that Hydro One is making prudent use of ratepayer money.  And I think this goes beyond simply whether it passes a cost-effectiveness test or not.

A better way perhaps to put it would be:  Do Hydro One's proposed CDM programs provide the best bang for the buck?  Are they the most efficient and cost-effective way to get at the targets that we all agree Hydro One has to hit through its licence?  In other words, will the programs result in the lowest reasonable overall cost to ratepayers?

So, in effect, what I am suggesting to you is that this is more or less the same test you would apply through Mr. Warren's analysis, that although it is not, strictly speaking, the "just and reasonable" test.  I am not sure that there is actually any difference as to how you would consider these applications, whether we are under 78.3 or 78.5.

For example, under "just and reasonable", I don't think you would have the discretion to say, Hydro One, you shall not do any CDM programs, any more than you could say to Hydro One, You will not maintain your plant.  I mean, there are certain costs they have to incur.  The focus of the review here should be cost-effectiveness and bang for buck, if I can put it that way.

MS. HARE:  But, Mr. Millar, you used the words "lowest cost".  You are not suggesting that they have to prove that they are the lowest cost programs, are you?

MR. MILLAR:  It is difficult to respond to that directly without getting into fact-specific issues.

I would suggest that, for example, if they brought forward a program and it was shown that there is a better program that is more cost-effective, I would think that intervenors and other parties would be well within their rights to challenge Hydro One on that, and possibly you might deny a program on the basis that there is a better program out there.

I think that is within the issues in this case, but, of course, you would have to hear all of the facts as to why program A was chosen over program B.  But I think that could be one of your legitimate considerations.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I want to briefly address a point made by my friend, Mr. Engelberg.  He filed a letter with the Board on March 2nd.

Do you have that in front of you?  I actually didn't bring spare copies, and I don't know that it is in any of the materials.  I don't think you need it, because I am going to quote the relevant extracts.

What he suggests to you, he quotes section 78.3, which you do have in front of you, which states:
"The Board may make orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the transmitting or distributing of electricity..."

And here's the part that is underlined:
"...or such other activity as may be prescribed."


And I think Hydro One's view is that either section 78.5 or the directive or the code amounts to something that is prescribed, and I would encourage you not to adopt that.  I don't think that is correct.

I think the outcome of that is that this becomes a section 78 -- this actually becomes a 78.3 application, because it fits into "prescribed".

My view is what is intended by that provision is "prescribed" generally means prescribed by regulation.  So my view is that that is what you should read from that, and, again, although I am essentially agreeing that more or less the "just and reasonable" test applies, I do not accept that section 78(3) is the appropriate statutory authority in this case.

I am going to move on to the second of Mr. Warren's issues, unless you have any questions on that, and I will be much quicker as I go through here.

The second question, at least as we have described it in the Board's letter, is the extent to which this Board has any approval authority over OPA programs.

Frankly, I don't think this is disputed, especially now that I have heard Mr. Warren, but it is Staff's position the Board has no jurisdiction over the OPA's CDM programs.  It has no role in designing them, evaluating them or approving them.  It also has no role in approving the funding for these programs, and it has no say in whether these amounts are appropriate or just and reasonable, or whatever you want to call them.

All of this is entirely outside of the Board's purview.

Now, the OPA's programs, just to be clear, do have some relevance in this proceeding, in my submission.  In particular, the Board has to be satisfied that the programs proposed through this application are not duplicative of the OPA programs.

Obviously you have to know what the OPA programs are in some detail to make that analysis.

And I would also suggest it may have some relevance to at least understanding the portion of Hydro One -- you may want to know what portion of Hydro One's targets it intends to achieve through the OPA programs versus Board-approved, and perhaps the relative cost of pursuing programs through the OPA versus Board-approved.

As I say, you want to ensure that Hydro One is, to the extent you can, pursuing programs that get the best bang for their buck.  If they're saying some of these Board-approved CDM programs are actually much more cost-effective than the OPA programs, well, that is probably a relevant consideration for you.

Regardless, I think it is probably agreed by all parties the Board has no approval authority over the OPA programs.

I would like to move on to the two Board questions now, if I may.  When were you looking to take a break Ms. Hare?  I probably won't be more than five or ten more minutes.

MS. HARE:  I think we will take a break at around 11:00, so please proceed.

MR. MILLAR:  We've had -- the second two questions, one is the established -- whether the programs are established, and the second relates to the EM&V plan.

On the first question, I tend to agree with Mr. Warren.  We have had a letter filed by the OPA which I think the parties have seen and the Panel has seen.

By and large, it seems that, at least as of today, the programs are established.  I understand that there may still be a schedule for an industrial program, and perhaps there is reference to one or two institutional programs where the final schedules are not before us yet.  I understand those should be prepared and filed shortly.

You may ask why they aren't available already, but I think, frankly, we are not really going to get into this hearing until this afternoon, at the earliest, and, frankly, not until Monday.  So I think by the time this hearing really gets going, they will definitely be established, and, frankly, they're largely established already.

So I would say that we don't need to adjourn the application, because they're not established.  There may still be more discovery required on them.  I don't know, but I think we will agree they're established.

The final issue relates to the evaluation plan and the fact that Hydro One has filed some -- a template to the plan and some discussion around that.  But I think they have conceded that a plan itself has not been filed.  This, of course, is one of the filing requirements pursuant to the code.

I understand -- and Mr. Engelberg will doubtless get into this.  I think he was hoping - and he will doubtless say this in his submissions - to address through his witnesses, and, in fact, through evidence in this proceeding, as to why they have presented their application as they have, and why a proper -- a complete plan has not been filed, and, instead, they have focussed on a discussion through a template.

So it may well be that our discussions of this are in fact premature.  It may be more helpful to have this discussion finally at the end of the proceeding, but I will offer at least a few initial thoughts here.

There are really two issues here.  One is that the OPA protocols are still in draft form and whether or not you could even have a plan filed while this is the case.

The OPA letter seems to attempt to address this, in any event.  It suggests that protocols will often be in draft or they may be changed from time to time.  At least in the OPA's view, the protocols appear to form an appropriate basis to go forward at this point.

Again, this may be something that benefits from actual evidence from the parties.

The second issue here is that Hydro One I think is of the view that whether or not the protocols are draft or not, it wasn't planning on filing the full plan upfront, and I think doubtless Mr. Engelberg will address with this, but there are some funding issues around that.

They want a third party to undertake that study for them or with them, and absent approval of the programs, either that is not prudent or they're actually having trouble coming up with the money.  I will let him explain that.

Again, I don't have much to say on this issue, but I think the Board should probably consider a purposive approach to this, and that is:  What is the purpose of having the evaluation plan filed with the application?

The Board will be aware that EMV is largely a retrospective analysis.  Its general purpose is to assess the effectiveness of a program and to verify the claimed results after the fact.

So it is obviously an important tool in determining whether a utility has hit its targets in assessing appropriate - what do we call it, not SSM anymore - the incentive.

But I do submit it does also have -- it serves a useful purpose at the application stage.  The Board needs to have some confidence that the applicant has considered the risks and potential pitfalls of a program, and it also needs to know that sufficient data will be collected to properly evaluate the program and verify the results.

So that is, I think, why we require this in the first place.

I don't have -- I think we can agree that, strictly speaking, the filing requirement has not been met.  They have not filed a plan, and I think they concede that.

I leave it to you to decide whether the information they have provided, which is the template and a discussion of the things they intend to do, is sufficient to allow approval of this program; in other words, to relieve them of the obligation to file the plan itself.  Again, this may be assisted by the evidence from Hydro One.

Subject to any questions, Madam Chair, those are my submissions on the four issues.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Any questions?

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Millar, do you consider the OPA program to include the EM&V, the OPA EM&V?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I'm not -- the OPA programs?

MS. TAYLOR:  There are two parts to a CDM program.  There are the programs themselves, and then there is the back end, as you said, EM&V section of it.

The fact that you believe the programs set part of the OPA basket, if you will, is established, but their EM&V is, in fact, still in draft form.

Do you not believe that the two pieces need to be complete before the thing is established broadly?  Or is it sufficient that only the programs be established as of today?

MR. MILLAR:  And you are speaking specifically with regard to the OPA programs, whether or not they are established --


MS. TAYLOR:  With respect to the test of whether it is established.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Taylor, I am not sure I have a great answer for that.

The way I approached the review of considering whether or not the OPA's programs were established focussed on the programs themselves, and frankly, not the EM&V.

I think all I can do is point you, perhaps, to the OPA's letter.  I don't believe we have a representative from the OPA here.

Their discussion on the EM&V essentially suggests that whether it is in draft or not, it is sufficient for the purposes of moving forward, and indeed that EM&V, by its nature, will evolve over time.  There may be changes.

So all I can do is point you to that letter, and that is the OPA's view on that.  I am sorry if that is not helpful, but I don't have a better answer for you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I think Mr. Sommerville has a question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a very brief one.  You indicated that it is your view that the -- an analysis of the OPA-contracted programs, from a cost point of view, is beyond the scope of the Board's review.  And he Board has had the benefit of the letter from OPA.

Now, OPA provides a number of statements to that effect.  One of them relates to the idea that it is because these are procurement contracts.

Is that the basis upon which you rest your argument that these programs are beyond the scope of the Board's review?  That they are procurement programs, procurement contracts?

MR. MILLAR:  That is not what I base my argument on.  I think further discussion would be required of that, without having the Electricity Act in front of me.  You will be aware there are provisions in that Act that say procurement contracts are beyond the scope of the Board's review.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think those specifically reference CDM, though I stand to be corrected.

Just to be clear, my analysis is that the Ontario Energy Board Act nor the Electricity Act, neither of those Acts provides the Board any authority to approve OPA programs, certainly not in this proceeding.

I suppose someone might make an argument in the OPA fees case that somehow, if these are not procurement contracts covered by the Electricity Act, the Board might have some oversight there.  I am not sure I buy that.

But certainly in this proceeding, I am not relying on that.  I am relying on section 78.5 and the fact that it is entirely silent on OPA-approved programs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much for that answer.

The only other point I wanted to raise, and just so I understand your submission properly, it seemed to me that at one point, I think you suggested as part of your submission that the idea of the relative costs between the OPA program and the Board-approved program, that the relative cost as between those two options may be something that would be of interest to the Board in its review of the Board-approved programs.

Did I get that right?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so.  Other parties may take a different view, but frankly I tend to agree with Mr. Warren that this should be more than simply ticking off the box to say:  Is this cost-effective or is it not?

I think it should be within the scope of the analysis, to determine if -- for example, if there is clearly a more cost-effective option of hitting their targets than the programs they are proposing for the Board, I think that is absolutely something that you should be entitled to hear submissions on.

Now, I understand OPA -- pardon me, Hydro One is actually doing all of the OPA programs anyway, so maybe if is not an issue in this case, but I think that should be within the scope of the review.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Other submissions?  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, perhaps I could go since I am largely in support of Mr. Millar's submissions. 
Submissions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  The Board will have -- I hope have before it a letter I submitted -- I think it was yesterday or the day before, with some general submissions.  So I will try not to repeat that.

In short, I agree that the just and reasonable test is not the test per se, because the Board is not setting rates herein under section 78(2) or (3).

The Board is acting pursuant to the authority from a section -- the directives which flow from section 27.1 and 27.2.  In this case, the minister's directive references both of those sections, and that gives quite a broad authority to the minister and to the Board.

Yes, ultimately these costs will find themselves in rates through the IESO -- and I assume, without having gone back through the act, that the Board has approved and approves variance accounts that allow the distributors to collect for that in rates, ultimately.

But the analogy is to the IPSP, which the Board will review, which will obviously have cost implications.  Sooner or later it gets collected through -- in the electricity rates.  The distributors have to collect that.

But the Board finds its jurisdiction through distinct sections of the Electricity Act and the OEB Act, in that case and in this case.

So that brings us to what is the test.

As I have set out in my letter, the tests would appear to us to be those that are -- you are directed to apply in the directive, and those that you are required to have regard to because of the Board's objectives which apply to all its responsibilities under the act, this being one.

Mr. Millar has already taken you to section 1 about the protection of customers.  I clearly agree with that.  But I hasten to add there's Section 1, sub (1), subsection (3):

"To promote electricity conservation in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario."

The directive is one indication of those policies.  The long-term energy plan would be another indication.  The supply directive to the OPA would be yet a further recent indication of what the government policy is.

That said, you do need to have regard to what the OPA is doing.  It is important context, because the directive and the Board's Code raises concern about undue duplication, so you obviously need to look at it for that reason.

You also need to have regard to the OPA programs in combination with the Hydro One-specific and Hydro One Brampton-specific programs, because the government objectives are for the promotion of energy efficiency.  And you need, the Board therefore needs, to look at what, through the totality of these efforts, is going to be accomplished.  Is that sufficient, in light of, for example, the long-term energy plan?

Now, there is some concern that I think is surrounding this discussion today, that because some of the details are vague here, it is difficult -- certainly about the OPA programs -- it may be difficult for us to get an exact fix.  And we have heard a lot of discussion both from Mr. Warren and Mr. Millar about the cost-effectiveness test.

It is GEC's position that the cost-effectiveness tests - and in fact, it is tests, plural - that are referred to in the directive, are simply a necessary lens, one of the lenses that the Board should use in examining what is proposed.

There is no line that is determinative.  The minister did not say:  You must achieve 1.0, or what have you.  The Board's code in the section following, the section following the one referred to by my friend, section 4.1.2 refers specifically to exceptions, for example, for pilot programs, low-income programs, educational purposes.

And if getting the most cost-effective programs in place was the test, well, we would never get out of the hearing room, because I am sure we can always come up with a tweak that makes something a little more cost-effective or find some example of a program that is more cost-effective.

So I think it is clearly like everything the Board decides.  This is the reason we have administrative tribunals.  Nothing is that crisp and black and white.  So judgment needs to be exercised there.

Now, the precise -- Mr. Warren refers to -- is the money being spent on the HONI-specific programs, the Board-approved programs that are proposed, necessary in light of the money that is being spent by the OPA?

I wanted to emphasize the section I referred to in my letter in the directive, section -- paragraph 6(c):
"that the Board shall not preclude consideration of CDM Programs or funding for CDM Programs on the basis that a distributor's CDM Targets have been or are expected to be exceeded."


So the fact that perhaps OPA's programs are going to get 84 percent of the target rather than 81 percent of the target does not suggest -- we don't need to know that precisely, because it doesn't dictate that the Hydro One programs should be cut back to 16 rather than 19 percent.

The directive explicitly directs the Board to be open to exceeding the targets, and I would suggest that the Board's objectives are explicit, that the Board should promote the excedence of those targets, to the extent that is consistent with the government policy.  And, indeed, that will be the thrust of our intervention in this case, that there is lots of room for more.

I think I agree with Mr. Millar on the question of whether the OPA programs are established.  I think the -- with respect to an evaluation plan, I think -- and I agree again with Mr. Millar about his suggestion that we have kind of a purposive analysis applied here.

I think we have found -- and perhaps -- I could probably say with some confidence that all of my friends in the room would agree in the context of the gas cases, in the gas DSM cases, that the devil is in the details.

Evaluation has proven to be very important, both to get at what has actually been accomplished, to make sure that the -- in that case where there is incentives and LRAM at play, that the companies are being treated fairly and the customers are being treated fairly.  But they have been particularly helpful in refining programs, in defining what research needs to be done to better improve programs, and to get a better sense of what is actually being accomplished going forward.

Those are tasks that are very -- there is a lot of minutiae.  They're not well-suited for the hearing setting.  The EACs that have been forged in the case of the two large gas distributors have proven to be, in our submission, a very convenient, effective way for some transparency to be obtained.

There is some opportunity for input, and then often compromises obtained, and then in exceptional cases something has to be brought before the Board, but, in general, things haven't had to be brought before the Board.

We will, I think, at the end of the day in this case, be proposing such a condition be imposed.  I think it is not practical to do that in the case of all 80 LDCs, but perhaps in the case of a couple of the lead LDCs where there is a lot more -- there is more at stake and where -- I think it is fair to say in the case of Hydro One, and perhaps Toronto Hydro is another example, where they're leading by example, and that is great.  And this may be one of the costs of that to the utilities; they have to bear a little more scrutiny.

That may be a particularly good approach.  That creates a committee of three or four stakeholders elected by the intervenors that allows a peak behind the curtain, often with the involvement -- the attendance of the evaluator or the auditor, and it is something that -- well, let me say this.  We do need to ensure that the right data is collected; otherwise, you can't evaluate at the end of the day; hence, the Board's laudable inclusion in the code that the application should include a plan for evaluation.

As a practical matter, we have a bit of a chicken and egg problem I understand today.  Hydro One hasn't wanted to go out and expend the money and get evaluators in place until it knows which programs are approved, which programs, until it knows it has funding?  I think that can be dealt with by condition.

I think technically the applicant may be out of compliance with the CDM code, in that its application doesn't include a final evaluation plan.

The Board has authority -- the Panel has authority to relax the code in particular circumstances, and I would suggest this is likely -- and I think some oral evidence would be helpful here to define this better, but the evidence is likely to show that we can do justice to the spirit of the CDM Code through some mechanism which ensures that there will be a plan in place in time for data to be collected on a timely basis before Hydro One is out running in the streets losing opportunities to collect data.  So that is where we will go with that one.

I think I have covered the points that haven't already been spoken to, unless the Board has any other questions.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Poch, your suggestions or ideas about the role of stakeholders in an audit committee or a stakeholder evaluation committee, are those not better dealt with on a generic basis, rather than in case by case?

MR. POCH:  That is a very good question.  I think I intimated that I see the impracticality of trying to do it in 80 different committees.  I don't think there is any intervenor in the room that wants to try to man such -- to staff such an effort.

It may be possible to think of a generic approach that would help with that.  I guess the difficulty is that these programs by definition are utility specific, the six at least.  Obviously, the OPA programs is another matter and -- but -- so it is possible there will be a lot of overlap, but there will also be a lot of specifics that are unique to the utility.  So it is that balancing act.

I admit to having not thought through what would be most practical, but that may be something that could be thought about more, could be explored perhaps with Hydro One, too.

MS. HARE:  Would you agree with me that doesn't have to be decided at the same time that the programs are approved or not?  That could be dealt with at a later stage?

MR. POCH:  Certainly.  And the Board may wish to ponder alternatives that lead to less regulatory burden for both the Board and the parties.

I guess the only -- the problem we have today is that if the Board concludes that, yes, Hydro One is not technically in compliance with the code, and if you wish to give some -- at the end of the day, decide to give some form of approval so they can start -- let the rubber hit the road, the Board will just want to be cautious that the spirit, the intent of the code - that is, that the data be collected on a timely -- that the right data get collected is somehow ensured.

So that may be by a condition in this case.  It may be by some open-ended warning to Hydro that the Board will ponder what mechanism to use that may be of general application or may be specific.  But I think the Board -- we can make submissions at the end of the day about this, but the Board will want to be cautious that it maintain some mechanism to ensure that Hydro One and others don't get too far down the road without collecting the right data.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Poch, as it relates to program design and cost estimation -- so I would like to understand that your view is that the creation of a budget and the design of programs can get you within confidence interval, that what the Board will approve, in terms of cost in program design, will adequately reflect the back-end measurement.

So I guess the question is:  How do you design a program, how do you estimate a cost, when you don't know what you are going to measure and, if it is possible, in fact, to measure it within the cost envelope of the program that you have established?

So your submission, if I understand it properly, says that you are prepared to take the risk that it is immeasurable or that the cost to measure it exceeds the budget, that the utility will have to do it, anyway, within the envelope that the Board may or may not approve for a particular program.  Am I correctly stating your position?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  I guess the uncertainty will be the cost of evaluation.  And the other uncertainty is that if we can't be -- if we don't know for sure that the evaluation will be at the end good enough, then you will never know how cost-effective the programs were, in fact.

MS. TAYLOR:  So do you think, given what you just said, that the Board can fulfil its statutory mandate with the powers that we are taking from 78.5 -- if that is the right statute and subsection that we are drawing on for authority here -- to fulfil our mandate, given that uncertainty?

MR. POCH:  I do.  I think as a practical matter, evaluation budgets have typically been two percent, perhaps five percent at the high level, high end of CDM and DSM budgets. 

So the uncertainty about what the evaluation costs here might be one percent of the budget. 

I think that that is within the margin that the Board in its ordinary rate-setting mode accepts as something that is not an undue vagueness in an application.  You set a cap, and if the utility needs to spend more than that, it is going to be out of its pocket, or it will have to rely on a variance account, or come back to the Board. 

I think that you do need to insist that you have enough information about what these programs will cost.  Not -- that is the bulk of the program cost, not just the evaluation cost, but the actual -- you know, what are these measures costing?  What is your overhead?  What is it costing you to get these programs out?

You do need to have some certainty about that, to decide if the programs are adequately cost-effective, if the portfolio is reasonable, if the rate impact is reasonable of this, and assuming that the other utilities and OPA programs are similarly cost-effective. 

So I guess what I am saying is they need to prove within whatever ultimate test the Board applies on cost-effectiveness, the utility has a burden here to resolve that, to address that, and that is probably 98 percent of the costs.

Two percent of their budget is going to be or 5 percent, whatever it is, is going to be to deal with evaluation as they move along.  There is some uncertainty about that, to the extent they don't have an evaluation plan.  I think they can make some reasonable estimate about that.  At this point, the Board can give them -- in effect, give them a budget for that. 

I think the variation around that 2 percent is going to be so small that it is manageable.

MS. TAYLOR:  If it is only 2 to 5 percent of the total budget cost, why couldn't it be done in advance? 

MR. POCH:  Oh, I think it should be done in advance.  I think the Board should include evaluation costs in whatever it -- budget it approves.

MS. TAYLOR:  But why could that plan not have been filed at this juncture, as opposed to subject to approval, which I think the argument is?

MR. POCH:  I'm awaiting hearing from my friend.  I just heard, you know, indirectly through Mr. Warren that apparently the applicant has some problem with it. 

I took from the answers to the interrogatories that they didn't want to embark on that until they had certainty about which programs they were evaluating.  Obviously, you can't design an evaluation plan until you know what programs.  I think --


MS. TAYLOR:  There are six. 

MR. POCH:  Yes.  There are only six, and it wouldn't have been such a waste if one of them gets rejected.  I think we might agree.

That said, I don't think that there has been any great harm done.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay. 

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Hughes?

Submissions by Mr. Hughes:

MR. HUGHES:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am sensitive to your time frame, and I think I can keep my submissions within that scope. 

To the first point, the extent to which these applications are governed by the just and reasonable standard, I endorse and adopt the submissions of my friend, Mr. Warren.

I don't want to go through, again, his comprehensive overview of the statutory framework, other than to reiterate the fact that the Ontario Energy Board Act does not articulate or allow another conceivable standard. 

I think, again, there is some debate that can be had, but ultimately, there may be some consensus these are the types of factors that the Board should be considering, and perhaps the term "just and reasonable" as it appears in the act is as good an articulation of what you are doing. 

I think our debate this morning, though, does reiterate the fact, again, why we need to decide it before we proceed.

It is not inconceivable, and in fact, it may even be probable that, depending on the Board's view on this, it could affect the examination of witnesses and the types of questions they're asked.  So for that reason, I agree with Mr. Warren that we should know where the Board stands on that position before we can proceed.

On the second point, the extent to which the Board can consider in this application the costs of the OPA programs, I endorse the position of Board Staff in the sense that I agree that there is not an approval function here, but certainly there are elements of the OPA programs and their costs which are very relevant, whether in relation to the Board-approved programs that are being -- that are the focus of the application, or in a general sense.  And again, we're setting a precedent here, going forward, for other utilities that we have to be mindful of.

So I think, again, there is some relevance there, that it is not something that we can't address, although we are, I think, all sympathetic that Hydro One is perhaps not able to answer all of the questions we might have about the OPA programs.

To the third point about whether the OPA programs have been established, I take perhaps a slightly different view than my colleagues. 

I note that the minister's directive prohibits the Board from approving CDM programs until the OPA-contracted programs have been established, and that the Board's own code prohibits a distributor from applying for approval of their own CDM programs until those programs have -- OPA programs have been established.

The term "shall" strikes me as being a threshold test.  If the jurisdiction of the Board is triggered by whether or not those programs have been established, it strikes me this is an objective assessment, not a subjective assessment.

The letter from the OPA outlines steps they have taken to establish their programs.  They do not assert, as I read it, that they have fully established the programs.

Moreover, I think they leave it for the Board to take the factors they've outlined into account to determine whether it considers the programs to have been established.

I read "established" as being implicitly fully established.  The Board may differ with that view.  But I think if there is uncertainty in any degree as to whether or not the OPA programs have been established, it is difficult to see how the code and the directive can be honoured unless we come to a determination.

I mean, where that is the trigger point for the jurisdiction, both in terms of the application and the approval of those programs, I don't see how we could go forward without resolving that issue, in my respectful submission.

On the final point with respect to the EM&V protocols, CME, of course, is strongly in favour of conservation, as evidenced by its benchmark study on energy management, but it has consistently said that it approves conservation where the benefits demonstrably outweigh the costs.  Evaluation, measurement and verification are crucial to establishing whether the benefits and costs of a program are in sync, and certainly whether one outweighs the other.  For that reason, I think we should proceed -- we should not proceed until we have established what those OPA EM&V protocols will be.

Again, the letter suggests that there are current standards and protocols in place.  There are draft ones that may supersede them at some future point yet to be determined.  I think that is some uncertainty that is not useful.

I do note that the Board's code 3.1.4(a) requires that a distributor's application for a proposed Board-approved program must include the following.

The very first mandatory requirement is a program evaluation plan based on the OPA's EM&V protocols for each program.  Hydro One and Hydro One Brampton would have known when they submitted their application that the very first mandatory requirement was that plan. 

And to the extent that they chose not to do one, whether it is because of cost or they didn't want to undertake the exercise, in my respectful submission, again, this is a mandatory requirement.

I am a little bit reluctant to accept that the Board can simply relax the code.  I think there is already a great deal of uncertainty in these proceedings, and I appreciate that we are in uncharted waters to a certain extent, but I think this is an area where there has been some certainty, at least on paper, and there was a process which resulted in this code, and submissions were obviously made in that respect.

If there was a view that this plan should not come in in advance, the Board would have, I'm sure, considered it and ruled on it. 

But to my view, again, this is a mandatory requirement, and in my view, again, can't see how we could view the application as not being incomplete on the basis that it does not meet the very first mandatory requirement. 

Thank you.  Subject to any questions you have, Madam Chair, those are my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Hughes, the directive from the minister has a prohibition against duplication.

MR. HUGHES:  It does.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board-approved programs cannot duplicate the OPA-approved -- or the OPA province-wide programs.

Does the establishment of the OPA program have a meaning in that context?  I mean, does it mean that the OPA program must be established to the extent that a duplication can be definitively determined?  Is that what "established" means? 

MR. HUGHES:  I think that is a -- it is difficult to know exactly what the minister had in mind, and I certainly wouldn't expect to speak for them in that respect. 

But clearly that is part of the rationale.  They wanted to ensure that the OPA programs were in effect, in place first, so that the subsequent Board-approved programs wouldn't duplicate, there wouldn't be overlap, however you want to define it.

If the Board is confident that that is what the minister meant, then it may well say, We have sufficient information either from the OPA or Hydro One or others to say that we know that there is little risk of overlap.  I don't know whether that would be the case, and, again, I wouldn't presume to speak for the Board in that regard, but I would say it is a component part.  Obviously, there would be discussion of perhaps costs, perhaps the level of cooperation, perhaps the degree to which the various utilities have chosen which programs they wish to contract with OPA in relation to.

But I take your point that that would certainly be a component part of it.  I don't know that we could say, sir, with respect, that that was all they meant by "established".

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If that was what was meant by the word "established", do you regard the OPA programs to have been established as of today?

MR. HUGHES:  I -- it is difficult for me to say, sir.  I certainly appreciate your context.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.

MR. HUGHES:  I have reviewed the OPA letter we received last night.  I have looked at the steps they set out.  I certainly looked at the evidence filed by Hydro One and the applicants in this particular matter.  It is difficult for me to say for certain.

Again, I view it as they likely established it to that extent, if I can be -- make that point.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will take our break now, but during the break, Mr. Millar, if you could maybe canvass the parties and get a sense of who wants to make a submission on these four issues and maybe establish an order, that would be very helpful.  Okay, thank you.  We will reconvene at 11:20.

--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

As I understand it, there was an order established over the break, and we will hear from Mr. Crocker first.

Submissions by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

We asked to make our submissions immediately after the break because we wanted to follow Mr. Hughes closely.  Our positions are virtually the same, and so I won't repeat what our position is, other than to say that with respect to the issue of the importance of the evaluation methodology, we believe the OPA programs won't be valuable enough to you in terms of providing you benchmarking or in some way reviewing the Hydro One's programs until that evaluation methodology has been completed. 

Similarly, we don't believe that you are in a position to fully evaluate the Hydro One programs without the evaluation methodology, which we feel, despite what the proportionate costs might be, are important in terms of establishing prudence and the other criteria which you need to use in order to establish the appropriateness of those programs.

So we are, bottom line, suggesting that the application is, at the moment, premature. 

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, I think you are next. 

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I confess that during the break, instead of working on my submissions, I was -- like everybody else -- talking about the appointment of the new chair.  However, I do have some comments on the four questions.

So let me first go to the test.  That is question number 1.  In substance, I think we agree with Mr. Millar's position.  However, I think we have a slightly different perspective on that, while agreeing with him. 

We agree that the test is not technically a just and reasonable test.  Just and reasonable only arises in the act when it comes to the setting of rates, and it is the rates that must be just and reasonable, not the expenditures of the utility.  And that is sort of well known.  I don't think I have to go through that in a lot of detail. 

However, in setting rates, the Board normally has to look at spending proposals.  And in looking at the spending proposals, the Board is conscious that a similar type of test is used to assess those spending proposals; that is, although it is the rates that have to be just and reasonable, the spending drives the rates, and therefore the spending has to be reasonable in some way.  And I am not sure that we have a particular test for that, although I think most of the people in this room would generally agree with the formulation that Mr. Warren said, which is the question is:  Are these costs reasonable and necessary?  And I would add to that, to achieve the distributor's obligations under its licence.

I propose that wording with some care, because these are not expenditures that relate to the distribution of electricity, but they are expenditures that the distributor is required to incur because of a licence condition.

So they have some similarity, even though they don't come within section 78(2).

Then with respect to how you determine whether these costs are reasonable or necessary -- which my friend, Mr. Warren, has talked about -- our view is that we shouldn't try to make this more complicated than it is. 

This Board looks at spending by utilities all the time, every day.  It is not something that -- it is not a wheel that has to be reinvented here.  This Board knows how to do this and does it all the time. 

So -- and this is no different, the decision here is no different than when you are looking at a rate case at whether a proposal to spend $32 million on an IT department is a sensible proposal. 

So you can ask:  Are they paying their IT staff too much?  Are they overpaying for hardware or software?  Are they buying the wrong things?  Have they looked at alternative ways of achieving this particular function in their utility, like outsourcing their IT, or part of it?

Those are all normal things you look at.  There is nothing different here.  You have to make the same decision here for this 32 million as you are making for the 32 million in this hypothetical IT department. 

So our view is that all of this balancing act, we do need to know how you are going to approach it.  We need to know that before the hearing starts, because we can't do our cross-examination, even prepare our cross-examination unless we know what criteria you are going to consider.

But we don't think that you have to invent some new test here.  We think that there already is a test, very well established.  We all know how that test works, and if you just say we are going to do this like every other cost, everybody in the room knows what that means.

So that is our submissions on the first point. 

The second question is whether the Board, in this proceeding, can consider the costs of OPA programs. 

And again, in general we agree with Mr. Millar, although I think I want to go into a couple of more specifics on this, to make a couple of distinctions. 

First, we think that if the OPA has determined either the cost of one of their programs or how it should be designed or whether it is cost-effective, and if so, how much, or what the total demand or capacity savings will be delivered by that program, any of those determinations by the OPA, you can't look at it.

That is their jurisdiction.  They're the ones that have been given the responsibility to do that, and it may be in the OPA proceeding, some portion of that is something that you should be thinking about.  But here you can't; it is not your job.

Our view is -- and I suppose it is a jurisdiction thing -- but our view is simply this task has been assigned to the OPA.  It hasn't been assigned to you. 

However, if, with respect to an individual LDC, any of the salient points have been decided not by the OPA but by the utility -- so for example, the utility recalculates the cost-effectiveness of an OPA program for their purposes, or they recalculate how much -- or they calculate how much demand or energy savings will be delivered in their area with their participation in an OPA program, those are things you do have to look at, because those are not OPA decisions any more.  Those are now decisions by the utility that is before you asking for approval to spend money.

So let me take the two, I think, that are relevant in turn, cost-effectiveness and the savings that will result from participation in OPA programs. 

Part of your enquiry, it appears to us, is whether Hydro One is meeting its CDM target in the most cost-effective way.  Now, my friend, Mr. Poch, says:  Well, we can't get this perfect.  And he's right.  We can't get this perfect.

But in the same way as in any rate case you can't get a perfect answer on every cost, that doesn't mean you don't look at them and see whether they're cost-effective. 

You get 80 percent right, 90 percent right.  It doesn't matter.  What you don't do is simply ignore it because you can't get it perfect.

So I think that my friend, Mr. Poch, says:  Well, let's not worry too much about cost-effectiveness.  I think he is right, but that doesn't mean you shouldn't be concerned with it.  You should. 

So for example, if you look at the proposed Board-approved programs and they appear to be less cost-effective than the OPA programs, then -- and that data is before you, then you have to ask yourself -- and I think this is an obligation you have -- whether the Hydro One target can be met more cost-effectively by greater participation in OPA programs.  Indeed, that will come up in the Hydro One Brampton proceeding. 

And the converse is also true.  If you have Board-approved programs that are more cost-effective than the OPA programs that they're proposing to be involved in, then you should be asking the question:  Can you expand this program you are proposing, the Board-approved program you are proposing, so that your overall costs of delivering this target is less?

So all of this requires that you ensure that you are happy with the cost-effectiveness analysis, both of the OPA programs and the Hydro One programs. 

With respect to the demand and capacity savings, I mean, there is an obvious thing that in order to look at the Board-approved programs, you have to assess:  What's the gap that needs to be filled?  Is it 29 percent, as Navigant said, for Hydro One?  Is it 20 percent as Hydro One says?  Is it 16 percent as the OPA says?

You have to assess what that gap is to determine the size and the scope of the Board-approved programs that are before you.  Are they enough?

That seems to be obvious.  I am not sure there is any disagreement about that, but, to do that, you need to be satisfied with whatever that gap is, and any question that arises to determine that gap, you have to consider.

So those are our submissions on the second point.

On the third point, we have no submissions as to whether the OPA's programs have been established.

On the fourth point, the EM&V, we think that there actually are two issues.  First, let's assume for a moment that they filed a plan of some sort.  You have to ask:  Is that plan based on the OPA protocol?  And the reason is because the plan has to be based on the OPA protocol for it to be qualified as an EM&V plan for this purpose.

And if you look at the OPA letter, the OPA letter I think, if I can find it, says in the last paragraph - and I am paraphrasing - there are actually two EM&V protocols for the OPA.  There is a current one - it is on our website - and then there is a draft one, which is out there.  It is not finalized yet.

Our submission is that the application before you is based on the draft OPA protocol.  That being the case, in our view, it is not compliant with the code.

Secondly, we would ask the question, and the question has been asked:  What is the -- whether this is actually an EM&V plan at all.


My friend Mr. Millar has suggested it has essentially been conceded they have not filed a full plan.  I think that is probably true.  We are not going to talk about whether it is a plan or not.  I think you have enough information before you to make that assessment, but we will raise an issue that has not been suggested, and that is, we believe that section 78.5(2) of the act requires you - does not invite you, it requires you - to comply with the CDM Code in considering this application.

You don't have a discretion there.  I will take you to that.  You can find it in Mr. -- in the Pollution Probe materials, K1.3.  If you look at page 3 of that material, you see the wording of 78.5(2), and this is talking about the payments that you are determining -- in essence, this proceeding is about determining certain payments to be made to the applicants.  It says:
"The amount and timing of each payment referred to in subsection (1) shall be determined by the Board in accordance with such rules, methods and criteria as may be prescribed by the regulations or mandated by a code issued by the Board or an order of the Board."

You have a code here.  That code mandates - and it is not optional - it mandates that an EM&V plan be filed with the application.

In our submission, as a matter of law, until an EM&V plan is filed, you do not have an application -- a proper application before you and you are not allowed, as a matter of law, to make a determination as to payments to Hydro One.

Now, I will say -- this is a technical legal analysis.  I will add the policy side to that.  If you do say to Hydro One in this proceeding, It's okay, you've given us some of your EM&V and we will figure out the rest of it later, the message you are sending to every utility that wants to have any Board-approved plan is, You don't have to comply with the code; get close, make some determinations, give us something light, something relatively superficial, and we will still look at it, or, alternatively, you can send the message to every LDC in the province:  We have a code.  If you want to apply for Board-approved programs, follow our code.

And subject to any questions, those are our submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, how would any inconsistency between the statute, section 78.5(2), and the minister's directive be resolved?

Would the statute be determinative in that case, in your view?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, normal statutory interpretation would say first you try to find an interpretation in which both can be correct.  If you can't, the directive fails.  I think that is -- it is sort of first year law.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett.

Submissions by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Panel, Madam Chair.

The first question is the extent to which these applications are governed by just and reasonable standards established in section 78.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

In our view, in deciding whether to approve HONI's proposed CDM programs and their costs, the Board should be guided by the relevant provisions of the OEB Act, the Electricity Act, pertinent regulations under those acts, the relevant ministerial directives and letters issued under those acts, the Board's CDM Code and the distributor's and the OPA's licences.

There are, of course, two decisions to be made by the Board.  The first is approving the programs, and the second is approving the costs of the program, or, as some people have put it, the payments.

I disagree with Mr. Warren when he says this is all about costs.  It is not.  It is quite clear in the law that the Board's first decision is:  Are the programs appropriate?  I will come back to that in a moment.

So if you look, first of all, at the -- at section 1.1 of the OEB Act, there's plenty of reference in section 1.1, as you know, to the Board being concerned about energy efficiency.  Section 1.1(2) says:
"To promote electricity conservation and demand management in..."

Among other things, demand management of electricity.

Of course the main section everybody talked about here, section (1)3:
"Promote electricity conservation and demand management in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario."

Now for that matter, 1(1)4, which talks about a smart grid, also implies Board's involvement with energy efficiency, because I think everybody would concede that one of the elements of a smart grid is that it enables a more efficient use of energy.

Now, then moving from that to section 27.1 -- and section 27.1 of the act, the OEB Act, is entitled, "Conservation Directives".

I am going to read it, because I think it is critical to the authority of the Board in this case.  It says:
"The Minister may issue, and the Board shall implement, directives that have been approved by the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council that require the Board to take steps specified in the directives to promote energy conservation, energy efficiency, load management..."


And then goes on to talk about cleaner energy and alternative fuels.  And then there is a whole series of directives in section 27 -- a whole series of sections, rather.  27.2, which is entitled "Directives Re Conservation and Demand Management", which talks about:  The Board shall implement directives that have been approved that require the Board to take steps to establish conservation and demand management targets overall, to be established by all distributors and other licensees.


Then 27.2(2) talks about the Board being required as part of a directive to establish specific targets:
"...conservation targets associated with those specified in the directive, and the targets shall be apportioned by the Board between distributors and other licensees..."


Then it goes on, and subsection (3) talks about the Board requiring the OPA to provide it certain information in connection with these targets.

Then (4) talks about the Board being required to specify as a condition of a licence -- and we've talked a bit about that.  The distributor may meet at its discretion any portion of its conservation target by seeking the approval of the Board for programs.

Then the next section, (5), says it can also contract with the OPA for programs.

So a distributor can do one of two things.  It can do its own programs, or it can contract with the OPA for its programs.  It has a choice.

But the combination of those things must -- those are the two tools the distributor has to achieve these statutory -- the objectives set out for it in its licence, and that is that it must achieve a certain amount of demand saving and energy saving by the end of 2014.

And so the minister's directive -- just a very high-level summary -- that was issued pursuant to section 27 on March 31st, 2010.  I am not going to run through it because it is very lengthy, but I am going to hit just three or four points.

In the directive, it directed the Board to establish a CDM target for each distributor for the four-year period January 1, 2001 to December 31st, 2014, a four-year period based on a province-wide target.  So they took the province-wide target which they were given, which the government developed.  The government developed the target of 1,300 megawatts, and it asked the Board to allocate that amongst -- along with another target of six terawatts of savings to be achieved over the four-year period.  The government asked the Board to allocate responsibility.

So it is the distributor that is responsible for achieving the target; he is on the hook. 

Each distributor's licence, the directive said, requires it to achieve its target, and I won't repeat myself here.  It can use either its own programs or the contracted -- contract with the OPA, or a combination thereof.  It could use all of its own programs, or it could use all of the OPA's programs, or it can use a combination.  Most people will use a combination. 

And then finally, it talks about issuing a code, and the code is going to deal with, among other things, planning, design, approval -- approval -- and implementation of Board-approved CDM programs, as well as any other matters that the Board considers appropriate.

And then in producing the Code, the Board is asked to have regard to certain policies of the government, and there are a number of them.  I am only going to highlight a couple.

The first, you've heard before, is that distributors should not be excluded from submitting programs for approval that would result in savings that exceed their targets.  That is important, I think, because it conveys the attitude of the government. 

There is a degree of urgency about this.  The government has set out a series of targets, most recently in the February 17th directive to the OPA with respect to their second plan.  And as you know, they have set out targets to be achieved by 2030, but also interim targets to be achieved by 2015, 2020, 2025. 

Someone has to connect the dots between these targets and the individual programs that the distributors are proposing. 

As I say, the person that is ultimately responsible is the distributor.  And the Board is charged, among other things, with -- and this is a second point that comes -- is considered to be -- the government flags in the directive, that the Board review annually and publish the verified results of each distributor's CDM program, and the distributor's OPA-contracted programs, both, and take steps to encourage distributors to improve CDM program performance.

I think that is quite important, because I think, among other things, it gives the Board the right to insist on some sort of a mid-year correction process; in other words, to have a look at what has been achieved in two years out, and to say -- and I know that is not today's discussion, but I just introduce it to provide some of what I think the fabric of this is.

The Board would be able to say:  Let's have a look at this and see how you are doing.  If you are not doing very well, what are you going to change?  Because you have an obligation at the end of 2014 to make a target, or your licence is in jeopardy. 

Well, obviously, it is a serious matter.  It is not some sort of tangential, marginal matter that -- it is pretty vital, as this government has conceived it. 

And then the only other point I would make is that the Board, the other -- a policy is also put in this way.  The directive put it this way:  The Board's approval for funding any approved program correspond to the design period for the program, or up to December 31st, 2014, whichever is the later.

Finally -- and this is about the third time the government has mentioned it in the last six months -- the eligible matters for energy efficiency include geothermal, and so on and so on.

Now, our contention is section 27 and the minister's March 31st directive issued under it make it very clear that the Board is to design a scheme under which it would review and approve, or not, a package of CDM programs for each distributor which, taken together with any CDM programs the distributor contracts from the OPA, would be sufficient to meet at least the distributor's assigned CDM target, at least meet it.

And secondly, the funding for those programs for the period January 1st, 2011 to December 31st, 2014. 

Now, there are two other statutory provisions that are important, that are relevant to how these programs are paid for.

One is -- that we have heard a lot of is section 78.5(1), and it talks about authorizing the OPA.

Section 78 is a section that authorizes the IESO -- I'm sorry, IESO to make payments to a distributor - and I am cutting out some pieces here - with respect to amounts approved by the Board for conservation and demand management programs approved by the Board.

So there is the double-approval reference, that programs must be approved by the Board, and the amounts must be approved by the Board, pursuant to a directive issued under 27(2).

Now, that is pretty tight, that drafting.  I don't think that leaves very much space for anyone to claim that somehow the Board doesn't have the authority to do this work.  Section 78.5(2) then goes on to say:

"The amount and timing of each payment referred to in (1) shall be determined by the Board..."

And you've heard the rest of that:

"...in accordance with such rules, methods and criteria."

Now, I'm going to come back to that, but I believe that is a technical section of the act.  What I mean by that is I think that that act is to allow the Board to sort of set up the mechanisms for the payments, however they be done precisely. 

I don't think -- that, I don't think is substantive. The substantive piece of this is 78.5(1), in my view.

As an aside, 78.5(1) and (2) have the effect, as you know, of including the funding of both OPA and distributor's CDM programs in the global adjustment.

The global adjustment, in turn, is authorized by subsections 25.33(1) and 25.33(2) of the Electricity Act, together with Ontario Regulation 429/04.

I am not going to go through those, because you can read them, but 25.33(1) and (2) are mirror image sections of one another.  25.33(1) says -- and they talk about billing and settlement systems.

And 25.33(1) authorizes the IESO to make adjustments, and these adjustments have to do with payments -- to make adjustments with respect to payments by classes of market participants, in order for them to make payments out to a series of parties that constitute the parties that get payments under the global adjustment.

They talk about the financial corporation, generators, distributors and so on and so forth.

And then the mirror image of that is 25.33(2), and it talks about distributors and retailers may make adjustments in connection with payments made by consumers for program -- for the -- which were going to fund the same entities.


And the last of these entities, if you like, or the last of these categories are -- or these categories include, I should say, CDM payments to the OPA or to the distributor.


So that is sort of the origin of the adjustment itself.  And Ontario Regulation -- just to complete the picture, Ontario Regulation 429/04 defines the components of the global adjustment and the method of collection and from whom it is collected.


And section 78.1 through 78.5 that we spoke of earlier, that whole series of sections -- subsections provides the IESO with the authority to -- as I said before, to make payments of the global adjustment to various parties, and there is a bunch of them.


Now, passing then to the criteria.  The criteria the Board should use to decide whether to approve the distributor's programs and the funding for those programs flow from the legislative framework discussed above, flow logically I think from that.


First and foremost, the Board must assess the adequacy of HONI's programs.  Will they be sufficient when coupled with those OPA province-wide programs a distributor has chosen to implement, along with its own programs in its service area to meet the CDM -- or meet or exceed the CDM target the Board assigned?


Will the program create a solid base for subsequent programs?  It will almost certainly be required to achieve the government's interim and longer-term CDM targets, for example, those that I referred to earlier that are contained in the minister's directive to the OPA of February 17th of this year.


Will the programs likely result in bill reductions for significant numbers of customers?  As I said, the Board should reserve the right to conduct a mid-term review.


Are the program proposals and funding requests compliant with the code and are the costs -- everybody has commented on this.  Do they -- and one of those -- one of the incidences of compliance is:  Have they run the OPA's cost-effectiveness tests?


And then:  Are the programs an appropriate combination of programs to achieve the targeted objectives or are there other program packages which could be implemented for a substantially lower cost?


I think that there was an exchange earlier -- and I concur with Madam Chair.  They don't have to show that it is the lowest cost.  That is not -- but they need to show that there is not something egregious, that it was an egregious error in assembling these programs, that there is a much better, more obvious way of doing this for a lesser cost.


And I guess another way of putting that is:  Are the requested program costs reasonable in relation to the size and complexity of the program?


You can say -- I am not going to say cost-effective for that, because that is confusing, because "cost-effective" is used in two different ways in this discussion.


There is "cost-effective" as a term of art in the OPA's protocols and assumptions, but "cost-effective" as an everyday sense, as well.  And it is important to distinguish, when using that term, which way you are using it.


I don't want to confuse anybody any further, so I won't use it.


Now, finally, on this question of the criteria, the conventional just and reasonable test the Board uses in rates cases - here I guess I am in agreement with quite a few folks here - are not a good fit for this particular process.


The "just and reasonable" formulation was developed by the court to ensure the utility rates were high enough to recover its reasonable costs, but not so high as to inflict hardship on the utility's customers.


And they also dealt with the allocation of the burden of funding the utility amongst different customer groups.  That is the classic historical evolution of "just and reasonable rates" in a fair manner.  In other words, they have to allocate the costs in a fair manner over the long run.


Here we are dealing with enabling specific targets that must be achieved as a matter of law.  What is being proposed is not only the funding, but also the program approvals themselves, and the activity in question, when used by a customer, should normally result in lower bills for that customer.


So there doesn't appear to me to be, over the longer -- the medium to longer term, virtually all interested customers ought to be able to take advantage of these programs in any particular sector.


So there should not be a conflict here between participation in this program and some sort of detrimental cost to a consumer.  It should be the opposite.  The interests are essentially aligned.


And, finally, the funds for these programs come from the global adjustment mechanism, which recovers these funds from all members, all customers and consumers in the province.


Now, I am not going to get into the detail of all of that, because I don't fully understand it, frankly.  But it is not quite the same as a distributor taking its bill, as in a rates case, and recovering it from its particular customers.


Now, the second question is the -- and I will be much briefer.  This was really the -- I spent most of the time on this so we could give our basic -- define our basic approach that we think the Board should take.


The second question:

"The extent to which the Board can consider in its application the cost of the Ontario Power Authority's CDM programs that are being acquired by HONI and whether any 'rates' resulting from these programs are just and reasonable."


As noted above, HONI has agreed to utilize all OPA's CDM programs in offer, in addition to its own programs, to achieve its target.


HONI has contracted with the OPA to deliver its program in its service area.  The contract, among other things, as I recall it, reimburses HONI for its admin costs.  I think there are incentive payments in there, as well.


Now, the OPA, I believe, like others, does not have the legislative authority to review and approve the -- sorry, the OEB does not have the legislative authority to review and approve the OPA province-wide programs, as such, nor the funds to implement them.  However, in order to assess whether the combination of HONI's own programs and the OPA's programs which it contracts will allow HONI to meet its savings targets, the Board must have sufficient knowledge of the OPA's plans, their likely effectiveness, their antecedents, to determine whether HONI's expectations are well founded.


For example, the Board ideally would need to see the evaluations of these programs and similar antecedents allow it to make a judgment about the OPA's new programs' likely success.


Over time, the Board can acquire such information from the OPA as part of its program review process, which is mandated in the ministerial directive.  And, moreover, section 7.2 of the OPA's licence requires the OPA to, quote:

"...provide in the manner and form determined by the Board such information as the Board may require from time to time."


The Board has the authority to obtain from the OPA the information it needs to make sensible decisions on whether a distributor's CDM proposals -- sorry, sensible decisions on distributor's CDM proposals, and it should request such information from the OPA.


This information would include, for example, most current avoided costs data, including the details of how the avoided costs were calculated, detailed inputs and assumptions used for the OPA's cost-effectiveness test and relevant program evaluations.


Now, it may take some time to get this information, and I am not suggesting -- we are not suggesting that the Board delay initial approvals of the CDM plans due to lack of full information from the OPA.


As they say, the program -- this process will likely be iterative.


But -- and, finally, in terms of the relationship between the HONI programs and the OPA's programs, the Board can and should examine the contractual relationship between the OPA and HONI to ensure that it is appropriate, much in the same manner as the Board would examine any other major utility contract.


Of particular interest would be clarity in allocation of responsibilities, avoidance of duplication of administrative functions, and ensuring that distributors have sufficiently leeway to implement the programs properly in their particular service areas, and, of course, that HONI is completely reimbursed for its expenditures on programs in a timely manner.


Now, just a brief comment on the other two issues.


First, have the OPA's CDM programs been established as contemplated in section 7 of the minister's directive?


Yes, we think they have.  Let me explain why.

The OPA-contracted province-wide CDM programs have been established, in that they were approved by the OPA board in July of 2010, according to what we have. 

Details on each program have been available since early last fall, and I am referring here to the green -- I will call them the green face documents.  They have been circulated widely, and they summarize in a fair amount of detail each of the programs for each of the residential, commercial and industrial sectors. 

Now, HONI, in particular, is very familiar with the OPA programs, having –- and these are rather practical considerations I am giving.  I will come back a little bit to the legal side of it.

HONI, in particular, is very familiar with the OPA programs, having sat in on all the working groups, and was able to provide a fairly detailed description of each program, each OPA program, in its evidence.  I mean, there is a whole 40 pages on the OPA programs in the evidence. 

Now, the detailed deployment plans for each OPA program are going to be done by HONI once the OPA has approved HONI's package.

Now, the gist of this, as I understand it, is that the problem here, the real practical problem with saying that:  Well, you haven't done a full -- I'm sorry.  I am jumping the gun.  Forget that last point.

I want to finish up with... I have been talking too long. 

Let me just raise one more point about establishment.  And I guess really, when I look at it, this is not much more than to say that there is a degree of -- this is the first time through for all of this stuff, and everybody is scrambling to get their material together.

Now, Hydro One -- in fairness to them -- got their material in on November 1st.  We have already heard from Hydro One's personnel in the technical conference that, you know, best efforts are going to mean their program will get started in the third or fourth quarter of this year.  I suspect that means that programs of some of the other LDCs will be later than that.

So instead of having a four-year program we have now got a three-year program, because it takes time to do the detailed deployment –- and this is not a criticism of mine of HONI.  Quite the contrary.  It takes time to do a deployment plan, and it takes time to do -- to set up a proper evaluation mechanism.

And I guess I will move from there to the last question, because I think these two questions, the more I look at them, I think they are quite related.

The second question -- the last question has to do with:  Can you go ahead without having a complete evaluation plan?

And the problem there, as I understand it, is that the code says that if you are going to do a proper evaluation, you have to use a third-party evaluator.  I am told that is what it says.

If it does say that, then HONI can't hire a third-party evaluator, I don't think, until it has got program approval.  I mean, what would HONI do?  It would go out and try and sign a contract with a top consultant, saying:  Would you agree that if we get approval for this program at some point in the future, you will come and help us evaluate it?

That is not a very easy contract to sign.  You have to be able to -- you have to have the approval in hand.  Then you go out to your top gun and say:  Will you help us do this?  Will you sit with us as we create this detailed deployment plan, and ensure that we are collecting the right data, that we've got the thing conceptualized properly, we are measuring the right things, and that this will make sense as a plan?

Now, I would say it is going to be difficult to do that until you get the program approval.  That is the first thing.

Now, the second thing is with respect to the evaluation protocols, I mean, I have read them, as I am sure you have.  And I've read the protocols, and they're very detailed.  I mean, they're very detailed.  They're very well written.  They are pretty thorough.

And I don't know -- it seems to me they provide quite a lot of guidance for the HONI and the other distributors, in terms of what they need to do to have a proper evaluation.  There may be various versions of them going around, but the problem is not lack of weight.  They are substantial documents.

The problem is more -- so you've got substantial documents sitting there, and then you have this practical problem that I have raised. 

So what I would hope would happen is the Board would essentially use its discretion to interpret that requirement in such a manner that the HONI program evaluation is sufficient to get started. 

Now, as a practical matter, that is not to say the Board shouldn't, you know, pay some attention to this and try and see if they can fix this up going forward, and maybe by year 2 or something.  These programs are going to be coming in over a period of time.  It is not a question of -- you know, somebody said:  Well, you are going to send the wrong signal.  People can be sloppy and so on.

No, quite the contrary; you can actually address the issue.  And if I am right about the code, then you can amend the code quickly, refine the code, because it should come out of there, I think. 

I mean, no code is perfect.  It was the first crack at this, and this is a brand new area. 

Finally, I guess as a closing comment, I think -- as I said before and I come back to it, section 78.5 – 78(2), I guess it is -- 78.5 (2), Mr. Shepherd talked to you about this at the end of his presentation.  I don't agree with his interpretation legally.  I don't think that is the purpose of this section.

This section is not to set a threshold and say:  Well, if you don't have an evaluation, you can't proceed with your program.

This is a more technical section, the technical section that deals with the timing of payments to and fro under the global adjustment and deferral accounts.  It is the world of deferral accounts and the nuances of the timing of payments.

So with that, those are my submissions.  Thank you for listening.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Brett, did your organization provide comments on the draft code when it came out? 

MR. BRETT:  No, we did not. 

MS. HARE:  Thank you.   I have next on my list Dr. Silk. 
Submissions by Dr. Silk:


MR. SILK:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Panel Members.

In answer to your first question, the extent to which the applications are governed, we would argue the Board is not only authorized but obliged to process these applications in a just and reasonable manner.  No one to date has suggested that you should be doing this in an unjust and unreasonable manner.

Unfortunately, the Board, in answer to your second question, fortunately or unfortunately, the Board does not have the authority to consider the costs of the OPA CDM programs.  So that is off the table. 

The fourth question, are the OPA CDM programs established, for all intents and purposes, yes.  Some of them have been launched already.  So the application is not premature.

In terms of the EM&V protocols, the OPA has made it clear that its protocols are final but they're constantly improving, and one can assume that the same approach would be applied by the applicant, and as you will see, a representative pointed out it is very difficult to go out and get an EM&V consultant for a program that has not even been approved yet.

So to summarize, I think everyone in the room realizes, understands, that by definition, CDM programs are cost-effective.  They can't come before the Board in applications like this unless they are.  So we are looking at other tests.

We would argue that the programs should not necessarily be the lowest cost or the best bang for the buck, but just and reasonable programs that protect the interests of today's consumers as well as tomorrow's consumers in both rural and urban parts of the province.  So these are some additional tests in terms of access to these programs.

And unlike some of the other intervenors this morning, the basic mandate that the Board operates under, that just and reasonable criteria should be applied in this manner. 

Although some may not yet realize that the sooner the Board authorizes this applicant and others to invest in CDM programs, the lower its rates will be both now and in the future.


So to conclude, the applicant should be allowed to proceed without further delay, perhaps with some conditions that may come out of the actual hearing, because the OPA horses are basically out of the gates.  They're out and they're starting to run.


So it would not be just, it would be neither just nor reasonable, to restrict the applicant from proceeding with its own CDM programs, which it is obligated to proceed with if it meets its targets.  So it would be unfair to keep its horses in the stable while the other horses are out.


And I think one of the purposes of the -- in terms of the other tests that we should be looking at this afternoon in the hearing is we should be looking at these horses and trying to figure out which ones are stallions, which ones are donkeys.


And should we not have a judicious - and that is clearly your role - combination of horses and donkeys -- stallions and donkeys, so that stallions can generate some quick results, but don't neglect the donkeys, because they're in it for the long haul and they will deliver results for five, 10, 15 years down the road.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's hope the donkeys are related to the programs and not to the individuals involved.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Dr. Silk, your organization is a provider of these programs.  What do you do -- I am just trying to understand the perspective that you have with respect to these programs.


Are these programs that you might be delivering to people within franchise areas?


DR. SILK:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would be a third-party subcontractor to perform that.  Is that the role that you would see your organization doing?


DR. SILK:  It is possible.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there other roles with respect to them that you might be undertaking?


DR. SILK:  Yes.  We focus on providing energy advisory services to residential and small commercial consumers.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But with respect to these programs, you would be as a program deliverer?  Is that how your organization would work?


DR. SILK:  That is how the organization would work.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Alexander, I think you are next.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I presume the Board wishes to sit until 1 o'clock or so?


MS. HARE:  Yes.  We will take a break at about five to 1:00.

Submissions by Mr. Alexander:


MR. ALEXANDER:  Before I begin, the two things that the Board will need during my submissions are a copy of the Pollution Probe cross-examination book, which has been marked as Exhibit K1.2, and then the second thing you will need is the statutory excerpts that were prepared on behalf of Pollution Probe, which was marked earlier as Exhibit K1.3.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is very helpful, by the way.


MR. ALEXANDER:  I am going to deal with the first question that the Board has posed.  And in Pollution Probe's submission, the Board has jurisdiction.  The second part of that question is:  Does "just and reasonable" from section 78 apply?


In Pollution Probe's submission, it does not.


The third part, then, is:  What is the standard that actually does apply?


I am going to submit to you the standard is actually in the directive, and the magic words for you to consider are "as far as is appropriate and reasonable".


And I will take you through this so you understand where I am coming from in this context.


So to understand the Board's jurisdiction, people have taken you to this, but I want to focus on a couple of key words on a couple of the key sections.


So using Exhibit K1.3, the first page, you've got the section 27.1, the conservation directives, and the key words are "the minister may issue", but the next ones are the ones that are important for the Board:

"...the Board shall implement directives that have been approved ... that require the Board to take steps specified in the directives..."


So this is a requirement for you to be actually carrying out the steps of the directives.


Under 27.2 on the next page, you see the same wording again in (1), "The Minister may issue", "the Board shall implement" -- "shall implement directives, that have been approved...that require the Board" to take steps.


So, again, you are required to take carry out the steps in the directive.


These need to be read in conjunction with section 78.5, and specifically 78.5(1), "The IESO shall make payments to a distributor", et cetera, et cetera:

"...with respect to amounts approved by the Board for conservation and demand programs approved by the Board pursuant to a directive issued under section 27.2."


So this is where the two sort of tie in together, and this is where the Board's jurisdiction comes from.


And the key word that sort of comes out of this in 78.5, the word "amounts".  When you look at 78.3, which is the rate-setting provision of the Board that the Board is familiar with, it has obviously the just and reasonable side, but it specifically uses the word "rates".


The legislature clearly did not intend, from the statutory perspective, that the amounts that are associated with this would be considered rates.


This is, therefore, using statutory interpretation.  I would submit there is no conflict between the two, because you always want to read things to avoid conflict, where possible.  And in this case, that means there are two different things that are going on.


You don't import the just and reasonable standard from 78.3 into 78.5(1).  It is something different that is going on, and what that is what the legislature considered when it was doing it.  It must have been aware of the wording of the Board's rate-setting authority when it was doing that, and it could have used those words.  It could have used "just and reasonable", and it chose not to, and that, similarly, in section 27.1 and 27.2.


The word "amounts" I think is also important to keep in mind, because that is used consistently throughout the relevant sections.  So if you look at 78.5(2) the amount and timing, again, the legislation chose to use the word "amount", not "rates".


Then flipping to page 4, where you've got the Electricity Act, an excerpt, and you go to section 25.3(3), the second-last line about the billing and settlement system, "whether the amounts are determined under the market rules or under sections 78.1 to 78.5".


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Alexander, there is no question that that is how the payments are to be made.  But I think Mr. Warren's point was that at the end of the day, these end up in rates, as they do.


So I understand your interpretation of 78.5 with respect to the payments that are made.  I think that is clear and understood.


But the question is:  If it results in a rate -- if it results in a change in the rate that is to be paid by a consumer, does that invoke the "just and reasonable" requirement?  That is the point.


MR. ALEXANDER:  I would submit no.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. ALEXANDER:  If the legislature had intended to do that, they would have used different wording.


They would have, instead of doing that -- because you have to read the two in combination.


If there is a conflict between the two, we have to look at what was the intent of the legislature in order to try to understand this.  These are amendments that are recent amendments, so these would override the things that -- using that statutory principle in this context.  That would be the -- that would lead towards this section being read on its own.


The second one that would also apply is these are specifically about CDM programs, not about general rates.  So the specific in this context, given the amendments and the interpretation that it is putting on, is on its own.  So its own thing is what is going on.


That is my submission as to why it is not "just and reasonable" and it is something else that applies.


So if I can continue?


MS. HARE:  Please.


MR. ALEXANDER:  The next step is:  What actually is the standard that actually applies?  Obviously the Board needs to be aware of its Board objectives under section 1(1), which the Board is very familiar with, the carrying out its responsibilities as guided under the various objectives.  The first two are long-standing.  The other three were added as a result of the Green Energy Act, specifically to promote electricity conservation and demand management, in a manner consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario.


And this is where the directives comes in, the directives that mandate you to take certain approaches and what you should be doing.


So if I take you to Exhibit K1.2, the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, and I take you to tab 2, and I take you to the second page of that tab, page 7 -- I'm sorry, the third page, page 8, what you have on the previous page is the directive that goes on, and it says:

"The Board shall amend the licence of the distributor as follows.."


That is the preamble.  And the key one is section (b):

"By adding a condition that specifies that the distributor must deliver a mix of CDM Programs..."


Et cetera:

"...as far as is appropriate and reasonable having regard to the composition of the distributor's consumer base."

My submission is that is the standard.  Those are the magic words as to what you should be applying when you are doing this review.  The minister could have said:  That are just and reasonable.  The minister could have said:  That are appropriate and reasonable. 

The minister actually went further than that in the directive, and the minister actually said "as far as is appropriate and reasonable."

And I submit those are the magic words and that reflects the policy of the government of Ontario, and fits within the Board objectives. 

I would submit that that makes sense when one considers that CDM, the cost of CDM is lower than -- when you implement CDM, the cost of CDM is lower than the cost of supply.  So what you end up actually have happening, from a policy perspective, is that you actually end up lowering both net bills and rates when CDM is going on, which is why the -- which is why the minister went as far to say "as far as is appropriate..." and I would submit that "as far as is appropriate and reasonable" is the key thing here.  The minister did not have to say that. 

That interpretation is reinforced by the recent directive to the Ontario Power Authority on February 17th, 2011, a copy of which is included at tab 1 of the exhibit book, which is Exhibit K1.2. 

The last paragraph, which has been underlined and marked:

“The plan shall seek to exceed and accelerate the achievement of these CDM targets if this can be done in a manner that is feasible and cost-effective."

I would submit the key points here are "seek" and "exceed".

So the minister is showing the importance and priority of CDM in moving this forward.  That is my submission as to why the words "as far as is" are important in this directive, and why it gets imported into your considerations of the standard here. 

That also gets reinforced if I take you back to the March 31st directive to yourselves, and I take you to tab 2 of Exhibit K1.2 and I take you to 6(c) on page 9 of the exhibit book:

"That the Board shall not preclude consideration of CDM Programs or funding for CDM Programs on the basis that a distributor's CDM Targets have been or are expected to be exceeded."

These are all reinforcing the idea of what is the standard.

Some of the things that we talk about generally in just and reasonable are there, but this is something different, and I think the magic words that I took you to in the first part are the ones that you need to focus on when you are considering all of these applications as you move forward.

I think that reinforces what is happening now and what is the statutory framework you are working within now and the directive framework you are working in now, versus the history of what has happened with the Energy Board. 

Now, there are a number of considerations, I would submit, that come into that, but none of them are going to be exhaustive or there is only going to be certain things that come out of that.

Mr. Millar used the phrase "best bang for the buck" and that is a consideration that would come in.  It wouldn't be exclusive.  And you know, if everything else being equal, that might come in as being good. 

But again, this comes back to the idea of being able to reduce rates, which is why the minister used these words. 

The second question that the Board asked about was the –- consider in the application the costs of the OPA's CDM programs.

What I would submit -- and it is clear when you look at the legislative provisions, as well as the CDM directive -- that what the Board can consider is information that is relevant to this area, and that is because part of the consideration is meeting the targets and exceeding the targets and accelerating targets.  So it is all about knowing what are the programs that are going on, what is going on in the other way.

It doesn't mean you are going to do a micro-management of OPA programs, but you need to know some basics of what is going on, and that is appropriate to be doing.

The statutory excerpts, if I take you to section 27.2(3) of Exhibit K1.3, the second page:

“A directive made under subsection (2) may require the OPA to provide information to the Board or to the Ministry about the conservation targets referred to in subsection (2) or the contracts referred to in subsection (5)."

So there is this awareness and acceptance by the ministry and the legislature that there would be information that would be shared.

What I am focussing on is the information sharing, because that is what you need to be able to decide -- in order to be able to decide what you need to do. 

Similarly, when you go to the directive itself, the March 31st directive at tab 2 of Exhibit K1.2, under subsection (2) at page 7, it mentions the fact that the Board would have regard to information obtained from the Ontario Power Authority.

So this is the thing, that you need to have access to information in order to do some of the considerations.  And that is the focus of our submission on that, is that even though you may not be approving OPA CDM programs, you are still going to need some information in order to do this review, in order to move forward.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, Mr. Alexander, what the directive says is that the Board-approved programs cannot duplicate the OPA programs, right?  Explicitly, it says that, "shall not."

So how do we determine that?  Isn't the question of establishment and that question of duplication inherently bound up with the idea of how much information do we actually have with respect to the OPA project?

We can't make a determination as to what is duplicative if the OPA program is either imperfectly, vaguely, or not described with a degree of specificity necessary for us to make that determination. 

If it is not explicit -- we don't need basic information about the OPA programs.  We need to know whether the Hydro One -- whether the Hydro One proposed programs are duplicative or not, because we are precluded from approving anything that is duplicative. 

So in my mind, that relates directly to the question of what is established, and what information we actually require with respect to the OPA programs.  It seems to me that that flows directly out of the directive. 

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the question I think you would have to answer is:  For the purposes of these programs, do you know enough that they are not duplicative? 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Up until a couple of days ago, we really didn't know anything, did we?

MR. ALEXANDER:  But that is part of the whole thing.

Mr. Sommerville, as you know, these proceedings evolve, and there is often information that comes forward and we are able to make those determinations as we go forward.

It doesn't mean that we don't consider it, and we can't -- and you can't require to get that information to move forward.

But we need to do the best we can in this circumstance, because we are in a proverbial chicken-and-egg situation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not really.  It is not a chicken-and-egg situation.  It is a question that there would have to be OPA programs that are established before Board-approved programs may proceed.

That is what the directive says.  That is one of the prohibitions that is in the directive; isn't that correct? 

MR. ALEXANDER:  Well, no.  What the directive says is that -- I agree with you on the -- I agree with you regarding the prohibition, in that they should not be duplicative.  And we agree with that; that is not the issue.

But the actual part of the directive that is relevant is that the approval does not occur.  So it is a question of timing of when --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It says there shall be no application, does it not?  It says that the LDCs will not apply for programs until the OPA programs have been established.  It also says that they shall not be duplicative.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Not in the directive.

MS. HARE:  But in the Code, it does.

MR. ALEXANDER:  In the Code, it does.  I am not disagreeing about the Code.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hold on.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And I was looking through the directive to find something that says --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  "The Board shall not approve..." This is paragraph 7 of the directive:

“The Board shall not approve CDM Programs until OPA-Contracted Province-Wide contracted CDM Programs have been established."

Right?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I am not disagreeing with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Then it goes on to say -- let me find out where that is, but the non-duplication side of it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  No, the non --


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, sir.  Section 6(a) of the code.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, I beg your pardon.

MR. WARREN:  The directive, sir.  Of the directive.
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.
"That Board-Approved CDM Programs shall not duplicate OPA-Contracted Province-Wide CDM Programs that are available from the OPA at the time of Board approval."

MR. ALEXANDER:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we have to have a reasonably explicit –- I'm suggesting, as a matter for you to address -- we need to have an explicit idea as to what those programs constitute, what are the details respecting them, so that we can make a determination, A, that the OPA programs have established, and, secondly, that there is non-duplication in the proposal from the applicant.  Does that not flow directly from the directive?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think for your decision, I agree.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ALEXANDER:  What I am focussing on is the application.  Does that bar the application?  And that is what I am focussing on as the distinction, because often the record can develop as we go.  So as information comes forward, that threshold may be met.

What I am focussing on is the distinction between the application versus the approval.

MS. HARE:  But, Mr. Alexander, if you look at the code - not the directive, but the code - 3.1.1 it says:
"A distributor shall not apply for Board-Approved CDM Programs until the OPA has established its first set of OPA-Contracted Province-Wide Programs."

Which is why the question was put as to:  Are the programs sufficiently established?

MR. ALEXANDER:  And I think where we have to determine as to whether or not they are established is we do need to take into account where we are in the process.  And that is my point of the proverbial chicken and egg.

We are early in a four-year cycle, and what we are concerned about is that we don't put off 2011.  2011 is passing on.  That doesn't mean that 2012 and 2014 -- because it doesn't have to be an all-or-none approval by the Board.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would be your problem.  Our problem is conformity with the directive.  That is our problem.  We are bound, by law, by 27.2 and by -- we are bound to implement the directive.  So that is what we have to do.

So if the directive says, Thou shall not apply prior to the establishment, or thou shall not duplicate, we have to have a reasonable basis upon which to do that, and that is not discretionary.  That is because we have to be in compliance with the directive.

MR. ALEXANDER:  What I am focussing on is the difference between application versus approval.

And even though the code says one thing about application, that is ultimately a code that is determined by the Board.  That is not in the directive, and that is where I am focussing the difference on.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am not trying to left-foot your submissions, but I thought it fair to sort of raise the issue quite pointedly, because it is really why the Board asked these questions.

And the idea that we just kind of are going to catch up to it -- I know that is your submission, that this may all clarify by the time the Board comes to a decision in this case, but that may or may not be an appropriate answer.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think what I am saying is there may be avenues in order to work this out in order to get the record to the point that the Board is comfortable to make those decisions, if it finds that the information that is present before it now is not sufficient to make those findings.

But I think where my point is is there is some -- there are ways -- I think where I am focussing the bar of the application versus actually moving forward and getting some things done.  It doesn't mean the Board is actually going to make a final approval or it has to time the approval in a way that makes sense, that it has the information in order to make that, because it does need that information according to the directives, but it is all about:  How do we do this in a practical way so that way we get 2011 moving forward?

MS. HARE:  Mr. Alexander, we interrupted you.  Maybe you should just continue with your submissions.  Sorry.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Well, I think ironically that that pretty much has dealt with number 3.

[Laughter]

MR. ALEXANDER:  That has dealt with issue number 3.  And issue -- and issue number 4 is a little bit along the same lines.  It would be the same kind of arguments that come in.

The reason is -- and this is the question I would pose for you as to what is the record that goes in.  Again, I am looking at the directive, right, and I am looking at clause 9.  So, again, this is about the EM&V.

I am fully aware that EM&V is an important and essential part of this program, but it is all about how do we get this going and make sure we are in compliance with the directive, because I submit to you the legislation and the directives are the big thing.  The code is something that you control and that you have and that you can make orders about.  Section 9 says:
"The Board shall conduct, or cause to be conducted, targeted audits of the EM&V carried out..."


It doesn't say that that necessarily has to be done before the application.  But the point is it needs to be done, and I think that is part of the conditional things that we're talking about in terms of going forward.

The other thing that I would draw -- I think the point I am making about the order aspect, where the Board does have some aspect here about the code versus actually making things a little bit practical about going forward, taking into account the prerequisites of the directive and making sure that those requirements are met to the Board's satisfaction, is that is reflected when you look at 78.5(2) on Exhibit K1.3.

This is about the amount and timing of payment.  Mr. Shepherd took you to this.  The key point is that the amount and timing shall be determined by the Board any one of three ways.

One is rules and regs -- rules, methods and criterias that are prescribed by, one, the regulations; two, the code; or, three, an order.

So there is some room here to do that.

Now -- and I need to reinforce that for both this and the OPA one, it is a question of:  How much information do you need to actually make the final decision?  This does not have to be you have to approve all of the CDM for 2011 to 2014.

We did this -- that was an issue that actually came before in the Toronto Hydro rates case, where they applied for -- I think it was three years, and we said that they should be able to apply.

Whether or not they meet the requirements is up for the Board to decide, but they have the right to apply, and if the Board says, No, you have not met those requirements, you are not going to get all three years.

The Board, if I remember correctly, said, We are giving you two.  Come back for the third.

So that is the thing that I am thinking about, in terms of us helping to move this forward.

Now -- and what I am concerned about and what we want to do is make sure we don't lose 2011 and we don't put this off, because the impact of CDM is that it lowers rates, and this is for the benefit of consumers.

We need to get these bill impacts out, and that is what we want to do.

So those are my submissions for the four questions.

One final point, just for the Board's reference, depending how the rest of the day goes, I do not need your determination on these four issues to do my cross-examination.  I am prepared to do my cross-examination today, if that works.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is very helpful.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Just for the Board's reference.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.  I did not mean to unseat your submissions, but I thought it appropriate to raise those questions for you.

MS. HARE:  I think Ms. Taylor has a question for you.


MS. TAYLOR:  I do.  In the logic and explanation of what the tests would be and the just and reasonable standard not applying, in that it says "as far as appropriate and reasonable", I found it interesting you did not reference, under tab 2, page 10, which is the directive from the minister to the Board, paragraph 8, which clearly references the Board's analytical framework or takes the lens that the Board will look at this whole issue with quite back to our objectives, in a very solid and definitive way, and notably only refers to -- they could have repeated all of our objectives in this section, but chose not to, and, instead, refers solely to our statutory objective, including the protection and the interests of consumers with respect to price, which you did not address in the logic of the lens through which that we will assess this application.

So can you reconcile the "as far as appropriate and reasonable" with the specific reference to "protection from price" in paragraph 8?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I believe I can.  "As far as appropriate and reasonable" includes several things, and I don't think it is a closed group as to what it is.

I think the Board's objectives are applicable no matter where it goes.  When you look at paragraph number 8, it says "including".  So the question that the Board would have to raise a question about is whether or not -- by stating one objective, does that raise it to a higher level?  I think that is not closed.  I think all that means is that all of your objectives are there when it is all said and done.

Having said that, I think this actually applies well in CDM, because what CDM is talking about is prices relative to the avoided cost and the avoided cost of supply.

So because what is going to happen with CDM is avoid - if you don't do CDM, the cost of supply is much higher than CDM.  So what actually ends up happening is, by doing CDM, you are still reflecting the interests of consumers, because the overall price, the rates, if you want -- I dislike using the word "rates", but the amounts consumers are going to be paying are going to be lower on a per-kilowatt basis, as well as a net bill basis.  And that is how it would all work out and flow with everything that goes.

I think the other thing I think that would flow out of that is the rest of the objective -- the rest of the directive is clearly, arguably, explicitly about number 3, right, and it is throughout number 3:  To promote electricity conservation and demand management in a manner consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario.

So this is all part of the things that go into it, in terms of going -- in terms of making it work.  And this is part of my point of this is a little bit different than "just and reasonable" when it is all said and done.

MS. TAYLOR:  My other question -- and I don't know if it is a question or somewhat of a concern.

I note with some interest that the code was a result of a fairly lengthy stakeholder process and was issued by the Board in September of 2010.

The application by Hydro One and Hydro One Brampton was in November.  And I guess as of today, we've decided, or the issue has been proposed by various proponents, that as of March 4th, 2011, the OPA programs are established.

So you are asking us to, in effect, ignore the code because other parties that had a role in shaping this entire application are late.

And you are asking us to, in effect, override the code that falls from a directive that went through a stakeholdering process to balance the very objectives we just had a conversation about, in order to achieve certain conservation for 2011, because other parties are late.

I am asking, I guess, broadly -- you can answer why that is, in fact, appropriate for the Board to do, given the stakeholdering process was specifically designed to balance -- achieve some sort of the balance.

So where the directive said at the time of approval, right, the code says at the time you make an application, because we're going to pull all of these parties into this room and spend a lot of money and a lot of time and a lot of effort considering these issues.

The code says something and achieved a particular balance to protect ratepayers, and you are suggesting we cast that entire balancing exercise aside and go back to the directive and say we can evolve all of this as long as it is all established by the time the approval is given, when the code, which had a slightly different and more inclusive process and certainly designed to balance objectives, says before the application is filed.

So why is it that we should go ahead now and override all of that process, which is in effect what you are suggesting at this juncture, when the framework was established in September of 2010 and parties have been waiting for certain building blocks to come into position before that?

So if you could explain that to me, I would love to hear it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  One moment.  So I think I have a few practical things that come in that would -- that need to be considered as what it is.

I think ultimately, it is unfortunate that we don't have everything before you that should have been there, that Hydro One doesn't have everything that was required to do there.

But your ultimate goal is to protect consumers, and I think that is the key thing that is very important. 

And I don't think we want to sacrifice the consumer interests -- as I have submitted there are, as I put forward to you -- as a result of information that is not here.  It is unfortunate that it is not. 

I think that is where we need to find an appropriate balance, I think, where you can sort of say:  You know what?  We're not even going to look.  Come back for 2012 on, when it is all said and done.

But we need to get going on 2011, and part of that is the province's long-term energy plan goal of getting to 015, which we're mandated to do in terms of getting the targets going.

So we need to get going on some of this stuff.  We need to get going on these things in order to get things moving. 

So it is part of this whole thing of actually being able to move things forward, but I hear your point about the concern because you have set up a process to actually get it done, but we are dealing with the practical realities of getting things moving, so that way we can keep things going for the next three to four years, as well. 

MS. HARE:  Okay.  We are going to take our lunch break now and reconvene at 2:00 o'clock.  Thank you. 

I have down that I have Mr. Stephenson after lunch, Ms. Abouchar, and then Mr. Engelberg; is that correct?  Did I leave anybody out?

Okay.  Thank you.  So we will reconvene at 2:00 o'clock.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:57 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:15 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

We are a little bit late in starting, but that's because I think there was another proceeding under way that involved a number of people, so I think we are picking it up with Mr. Stephenson.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, and good afternoon, Madam Chair, Panel.  I will be brief.

Firstly, I just want to say that this doesn't often happen, but it is happening on this occasion that I agree entirely with the submissions of my friend, Mr. Shepherd.

[Laughter]

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so that when --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My computer stopped working.

[Laughter]

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it's why we show up here every day.

[Laughter]

MR. STEPHENSON:  You never know quite what you are going to get.  I just wanted to follow up on one aspect, because I do think that this is the critical issue, and it turns on:  What impact does the Board's code have on this particular proceeding?

There are two things I want to say about that.  The first is I want to speak about section 78.5(2), which talks about how:
"The amount and timing ... shall be determined by the Board in accordance with such rules, methods and criteria as may be prescribed by..."

Then the regulations is the first option, and then it says:
"...or mandated by a code issued by the Board..."

Which we know speaks directly to the issue:
"...or an order of the Board."


And so the act contemplates that there are two different mechanisms by which the Board, as distinct from the Lieutenant Governor -- the Lieutenant Governor can deal with this issue in a regulation, but then the Board itself has got two different options on how they can deal with this issue.  One is a code, the second being an order of the Board.

And we know there is a code, and then the question becomes - and I think this is what some of my friends are implicitly arguing at least - is that the Board still has a residual authority to make an order in this proceeding which governs those matters, even if that order is inconsistent with the code, and, arguably, pointing to section 78.5(2) as authority for that proposition.

In my submission, that is not the proper reading of that subsection.  What that subsection is addressing is that it is at least possible that there could have been a circumstance where the Board did not deal with this matter through a code.  We know that they did, and we know that they were in fact required to, because there was a directive from the minister.  But, of course, the statute didn't necessarily contemplate that there would have been a directive from the minister which required a code, nor did the statute necessarily contemplate that the Board would make a code.

It may well have been that the Board dealt with this in the context of a particular case, without a code, in which case this subsection gives the Board the authority to deal with it through an order in that proceeding.

But, in my submission, this subsection can't be read to suggest that you can make an order in a proceeding which is inconsistent with a code.

Let me speak to that issue now directly.  I think it is important for everybody to understand what a code is for the purposes of this act and the Board's authority.

And, in particular, the code has a very specific meaning under this act.  It is very different than, for example, a Board policy.  We know the Board promulgates policies from time to time, and they have a lot of impact on parties and on proceedings.  A perfectly good example of that is the cost of capital policy.

But, of course, a board policy is simply that; it is policy.  Any particular panel of the Board, when faced with appropriate evidence and appropriate submissions, can do something different.

The question is:  Is that also true for a code?  And the answer to that question is, no, and the reason for it is this.

A code has got a particular status under this legislation.  The Board has authority to make codes in respect of a variety of different things.  And there, as you well know, under section 70.1, there are very specific statutory requirements that the Board must undertake before a code can be effective, including ultimate steps like publishing it in The Gazette, for example.

The code essentially is delegated legislative authority.  When the Board passes a code, it is the law in respect of that matter, in precisely the same fashion as when the Lieutenant Governor-In-Council passes a Reg.

So the question then becomes:  Who is bound by a code?  Is it simply the people in this room, in the sense of the parties before a proceeding?  And the answer to that is, no, it's not just the people in this room.  The answer is everybody is bound by a code, including the Board.

And the mere fact that the Board has the authority to, number 1, create a code and, number 2, amend the code, which they specifically do under the act, doesn't mean that they're not bound by it.

And they're bound by it in precisely the same manner that the Lieutenant Governor-In-Council is bound by a regulation.  When the Lieutenant Governor-In-Council makes -- they have the authority to make regulations under lots of different statutes, and they do so all the time.  But once the regulation is made, unless the regulation says that the Lieutenant Governor-In-Council is not bound, they're bound like everybody else.  That is called the rule of law.

So they're bound, and notwithstanding the fact that they have the authority pursuant to statutory authority to change the regulation from time to time if they see fit.

And that is exactly the situation that the Board is in here.  The Board -- the act prescribes the manner in which the Board can amend a code and, if it sees fit, the Board can do that, in this case or in any other case, to commence that mechanism pursuant to the statutory scheme that creates it, and they have to give notice and so forth.

It is all in the act and it takes a period of time, the simple point being that, unless and until the Board chooses to do that, the code is the law which governs the matters that are contained in the code.  And the code contains certain requirements, and there are the two requirements I think that people have pointed out and I am not going to deal with those in any great particularity.

I don't know, as a matter of fact, whether or not the OPA has established these programs, or not.  I can't speak to that.  That is a question of fact at some point, but I can say, as a question of law, if the answer to the question is "no" - that is, that the OPA had not established the programs at the particular point in time, which I believe the code says at the date of the application - then, as a matter of law, that has consequences.

I think that is the point that Ms. Taylor was raising.

Then with respect to the question of EM&V, we'll hear from Hydro One about that issue, but there seemed to be a pretty clear sense in the room that the EM&V obligation, pursuant to the code, has not been fulfilled, and that Mr. Millar and others said we've got to take a purposive -- I've forgotten whether it was a functional test or a purposive test, or whatever it was, some kind of test.

I'm sorry, the code says what it says, and you have to make a determination whether this is compliant with the code or not compliant with the code.  And if the answer to that question is it is not compliant with the code, then until the code is changed, that is the end of the matter.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

We will move now to Ms. Abouchar.
Submissions by Ms. Abouchar:


MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So taking through the Board's questions -- and I will be brief and non-repetitive where I agree with other in the room.  The first question:
"The extent to which these applications are governed by the 'just and reasonable' standard established in s. 78(2)..."


In our view, and as has been expressed, the hearing is governed by the statutory mandate in the OEB Act, section 1, the directive established pursuant to section 27.1 and the CDM Code. 


Just and reasonable is not referenced in these sources technically, as it is not a rate-setting exercise, and many have raised this, including Mr. Millar.


But that doesn't mean that rate implications are not considered through the process, and that this isn't a provided for in various ways in these statutory documents. 


The broad interests of consumers comes up in a number of cases; foremost the section 1(1)(1) of the OEB Act that has been raised to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices. 


Secondly, in section 1(1)(3) it has been raised a number of times with regard to the front end of that section, but the back end, after the comma, says that the objective is to promote CDM, including -– well, consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario -- you've heard that -- including having regard to the consumers' economic circumstances. 


And another place the interests of consumers are mentioned is in the directive, and that has been mentioned already today, section 6(f):

"The Board shall require distributors to use OPA cost-effectiveness tests, as modified by the OPA from time to time, for assessing the cost-effectiveness of Board-Approved CDM Programs."


So the two tests that the OPA is currently using, as I understand, the TRC test measures societal benefit, the PAC -- Program Administrator Cost Test -- measures implication on rates.


So for every program that is put before you, they can't file it unless the programs meet both these tests, a reduction in rates plus net societal benefits. 


So those interests are considered, not in the technical same way as at a rates hearing, but they are considered explicitly in the documents, in the directive and the codes.


Looking at section 8, it is referenced again:

"The Board shall, in approving Board-Approved CDM Programs, continue to have regard to its statutory objectives, including protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices."


So here it says "prices", not rates.  That is a specific choice of language, and I submit to you it is relevant again, because we are not involved in a rate hearing.  We are looking at a different kind of analysis. 


We are looking here at the focus on the total bill amount, the price, the ticket price, not specifically on the rate, as we're directed under this directive. 


So interests of consumers are certainly considered, not in the traditional way of -- that we are used to of just and reasonable rates at a rate hearing, but they are considered.


And they're balanced with other objectives set out in the act, in particular that one section, 1.3, that refers to all of the policies of the government of Ontario.  That brings in the directive and it brings in the code, in particular section 6, with all of objectives that are to be added on top of the Board's acts – objectives, and I am not going to go through that.


But suffice it to say it is a balancing act, the balancing of the interests of consumers looked at in a slightly different lens than traditionally in rate hearings, along with the policy objectives of government.


I disagree that we need to bring in a new test, a best bang for the buck test or the lowest cost to consumers. 


That is not what your statutory instruments say.  There is no legal basis for that approach, and frankly it would be -- it would be an impossible task.  You would have to assure yourself that there is no other way of producing this program at a lower cost.  So you would be looking at every jurisdiction that you can get your hands on, and it would be, you know, an impossible task to put you to. 


So I don't think -- that lowest cost idea is not in your -- in the legal basis for your decision, and I don't think we should be creating something like that in absence of that foundation in your objectives. 


So taken together, they require a balancing of consumer interests with the policy objectives of government.


Looking to the second question, the extent to which the Board can consider OPA's CDM programs, I think we are all on the same page.  The Board isn't approving the OPA programs, but you do need to assess them sufficiently to determine whether there is duplication in the Board-approved programs.


Which really brings me to the next question of whether the OPA has established those programs. 


And in my respectful submission, I think that we have to say they have been established.  I think we have to say they were established in July 2010 when the OPA board set a budget for the programs.


And the reason -- I mean, we have to pick a date, and that is the only approval function that occurs for these programs.  After that, they could proceed with establishing them.  So after that, after that approval -- it is in the OPA letter.  It is in the OPA letter on page 2.


So once that approval function occurred, which is the only approval related to those programs, then they became implemented, and we've got more information such that by -- certainly by -- by now we seem to have a lot more information, and sufficient information to determine the duplication question.


So really, there is no practical reason to hold the hearing up, because the information is of sufficient detail now to serve your purposes, and there is no legal reason to hold these up, the hearing up, because if you are looking for guidance on when something is established, one would have to look at the date, the legal approval date, the approval date, and the only approval date that occurs with these is the OPA board itself deciding to move forward with the programs on a specific budget in July of 2010. 


So I submit that this application isn't premature.  You have the practical detail you know we need, and we really have -- if you are going to look at when it is established, I mean, one could argue it is not established until they're on the ground and consumers are using them.  But no one is making that argument, but the word is a word that has a measure of flow to it. 


And I submit to you that legally speaking, once approval, OPA board approval, was granted, then everything else was moving forward with implementing. 


However, the low-income OPA program, of course, has not been established.  That directive didn't come out until July 5th of 2010.  So while we don't know what was before the board at their meeting in July of 2010, we see no evidence that the low-income program has been established.  So I think we have to assume the low-income program has not been established.


So is there any impact of that on you?  As it happens, no, because the programs that have been proposed to you for approval are not targeted specifically to low-income consumers.


So there is no practical implication of saying that you can't move forward with the hearing just because the low-income OPA program has not been established. 


We are not happy about this.  Low-income consumers have no program right now, and it is not clear when they will have a program.  Electricity prices are rising and this impacts low-income consumers more than anybody, so they desperately need a CDM program and want something as soon as possible.


However, that is not Hydro One's fault.  It is not -- Hydro One is not in a position right now to propose a complementary low-income program without that Hydro One program established. 


Is there any impact on the Board hearing of that set of circumstances?  Not in the Board proceeding.  The Board could proceed.  They could proceed with this application, because these programs are not targeted to low-income.  And keeping in mind that the objective asks you to promote CDM in a manner consistent with policies of government, including having regard to the consumers' economic circumstance, it is in your power, your authority to consider the circumstance that I have described, and propose that it might be appropriate for Hydro One to come back once the OPA low-income program has been established and the gaps can be identified.


At that point, they could come back with a complementary program for Board approval.  So that is always a possibility for you.  So there is no reason, again, there is no reason to hold up this hearing because that low-income Hydro One program is not established. 


So turning to your last question about the evaluation plan, Mr. Stephenson's arguments were very -- sounded very persuasive.  However, the guidance from the code that provides that an applicant must put certain things before you, that is the requirement.  That is a requirement for the applicant to follow.

It is the applicant's onus to convince the Board and the other parties here that their application is complete, and they feel at this point that their application is complete.  I gather they felt their application was complete since the technical conference, when we were all coming here originally for a hearing.

They felt their application is complete, and they have described a way in which they're going to proceed, with the template, and they're going to have -- I don't want to put words in their mouth, so I will leave this for the evidence, but it will come out in the evidence how they are satisfying that requirement to put before you in their application that component.

With respect, I don't think at this point in the hearing it would be appropriate, for that reason, to hold up the hearing.  You do have remedies in your -- you could -- again, you could approve the application with a condition that Hydro One come back with an evaluation plan when it is completed, but -- so there is a remedy in order to make sure that you've got all of the information you need in front of you in order to make that approval.  You could have a conditional approval that takes that into account.

So I don't think it is in any way illegal for you to continue to hear this hearing.  I think that that is -- the guidance for an applicant of what to put before you is there for the applicant to take account of, and to prepare the application as they see -- they believe that the application will be successful, and they have prepared it for you to consider.

And the information will come out through the hearing, and if, at the end of that time, you feel that the information is not sufficient on that point, you can use a condition to remedy that.

So those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. TAYLOR:  Ms. Abouchar, I just want to confirm my understanding that you think the code establishes guidelines, is that correct, and they're not necessarily binding on the applicant?  Is that...

MS. ABOUCHAR:  No.  "Guidelines" is the wrong word.  Guidelines -- it is a code.  It tells the applicant what they are to submit, and it gives you instructions.  It gives the Board instructions about what they are to consider.

It all goes into your consideration of whether this application should be approved or not.

MS. TAYLOR:  So if an applicant files an application that does not meet the code and -- I guess I am just curious about -- that the Board is somehow bound to accept their interpretation of what the code says and that they deem it to be complete, and, therefore, we have to accept that it is complete and hear it, and then issue some form of conditional decision.

Is that what you are implying, that somehow the Board has to accept their interpretation of what is the code and whether it is more guidance or -- rather than a definitive requirement?

MS. ABOUCHAR:  No.  First of all, I am not suggesting that the code is guidance.  The code is a code, and it explains what an applicant has to submit.

But it is your discretion, your authority, to decide.  You could have decided -- when you accepted their application before the notice of procedure, for example, one could have reviewed the application and said, tick, tick, tick, this item hasn't been filled, provide us more information so that we can fully consider your application.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think we have asked for submissions, right, on the issue, which is why we are having this discussion?

MS. ABOUCHAR:  What we're talking about now is the legal implications of them having not submitted some information to you.

So, first of all, I am not suggesting -- in answer to your question, I am not suggesting we need to accept their interpretation of the code at all.

I am suggesting that there is an item here that the code says an applicant should submit, and it hasn't been submitted.  So what are you to do?  What are your options?

I think that your only option is not to say, Let's stop this hearing right now, adjourn the hearing until such evaluation form has been complete.  I don't think that is your only option.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Abouchar, I looked up the words.  It doesn't say "should".  It says that:
"A distributor's application for a proposed Board-approved CDM program must include the following..."

Not should, "must include the following":
"...a program evaluation plan based on the OPA's EM&V protocols."

So I don't understand where you think we have got kind of some discretion here.

MS. ABOUCHAR:  If it said, for example, the Board will not accept an application unless it includes this, or will not consider an application unless it includes this, that is a direct obligation on the Board.  That is not what the code says.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MS. ABOUCHAR:  It is an obligation on the applicant.  The applicant has done what it believes will meet that obligation in one form or another, and it is up to the Board to consider whether the applicant has met your requirements in a way that is sufficient for it to continue.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.

Mr. MacIntosh, do you have any submissions?

MR. MACINTOSH:   No.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Dade, do you have any submissions?

MS. DADA:  No.

MS. HARE:  So I think that takes us to Hydro One, Mr. Engelberg.
Submissions by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  I will deal first with the Board's question regarding the criteria to be used by the Board in determining what the test is for approval of the CDM programs.

The applicants submit that the test is the just and reasonable test set out in the OEB Act, but that the just and reasonable test is a flowing test that must always be determined in light of other considerations to be made.

For example, although -- for example, the applicants' position disagrees with that of Board Staff in the sense that there may be an issue as to whether the jurisdiction comes from section 78(3) or section 78(5), the fact is that "just and reasonable" is an appropriate test, in our submission, as has been submitted by other intervenors, as well, to be used in anything determined by the Ontario Energy Board that determines prices or any kind of program put forward by the Board, but "just and reasonable" must always be read with the other requirements that are on the table.

For example, as has been pointed out by a number of intervenors, in sections 1(1), 1, 2 and 3 of the act, the Board's purposes are set out, objectives, and two of those objectives are:
"To promote economic efficiency and cost effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity..."


And number 3:
"To promote electricity conservation and demand management in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario..."


So in the applicants' submission, "just and reasonable" must be read in light of those objectives that the Ontario Energy Board must follow, and that in fact gives guidance to the Board as to what "just and reasonable" does.  In that sense, I would not agree with the submission of Mr. Warren, who said this morning, I believe:  All of us find ourselves in a dilemma as to what "just and reasonable" includes.

In our submission, the fact is that the Board's objectives give meaning to the words "just and reasonable".

Another item that gives context to what is meant by "just and reasonable" is the Board's Conservation and Demand Management Code.  Section 4.1.1 states:
"A distributor may only apply to the Board for the approval of CDM programs that are cost effective."


In our submission, what that means is, in determining what is just and reasonable, the Board must look not only at what "just and reasonable" means in the normal sense for the setting of rates, but also what it means in the context of the Board's objectives and what it means in the context of these particular programs.

Similarly, section 4.1.2(c) of the code says that despite the section I just read you regarding the cost effective test, the fact is that in the case of programs designed for educational purposes, they do not need to meet the cost effectiveness test.

So our submission in that regard would be that when it comes to a program that is for educational purposes, "just and reasonable" means something slightly different.  But, in any event, we have the context for the meaning of it with respect to all of these programs, and I think, if I look at my notes of what everybody said during the day, whatever the test is called, whether it is called a just and reasonable test, or -- I think Mr. Alexander referred us to the words "as far as is appropriate and reasonable," I think that we all get to the same place on what the Board needs to look at in order to determine whether the cost and these programs are reasonable.

So that is all I am going to say on that issue. 

The next question is perhaps the shortest one.  It appears to me that everybody or virtually everyone who has made submissions agree with it, and that is what is the extent to which the Board can consider, in these two applications before you today, the costs of the OPA's CDM programs and whether any rates resulting from those programs are just and reasonable. 

As has been stated by a number of the previous intervenors, the applicants are not here to apply for approval of the OPA's programs.  And in our submission, they could not do so even if they wanted to; nor could any other LDC in the province.

Furthermore, the applicants are not applying for funding of the OPA's programs; nor could they or any other LDC in the province. 

I therefore submit that it is clear that the scope of these particular applications does not include an analysis of either the OPA's programs or their costs, and that should be determinative of this question.

If it were necessary to make further arguments on this point -- and I am not suggesting that it is necessary to do so -- the applicants would submit, as submitted by the OPA letter yesterday, that nowhere in the statutory or regulatory scheme is the Board given the mandate or the authority to review the costs of the OPA programs.  The only category of programs that are subject to Board approval are the ones entitled "Board-approved CDM programs" which is why the applicants are here today. 

I will move on now to whether these programs have been established.

My take on what was said by the previous intervenors is that almost everybody believes that the programs have been established.  I realize that this is not a popularity contest and you are not going to tally the number of submissions in that regard, but the applicants' submission is clearly that the Board-approved programs have been established, and in making that submission, the applicants do not rely on events that have taken place subsequent to the filing of this application.

The applicants state clearly that the OPA province-wide programs were established in July of 2010, when the OPA's board of directors approved a four-year program, four-year budget for those costs. 

Furthermore, since the summer of 2010, but prior to the filing of these two applications, the OPA communicated information on the new province-wide programs to all LDCs.  They did so by way of webinars, workshops, an in-person symposium, and the OPA also issued written program summary guides for the programs.

The program summary guides are available for everyone to see.  They were filed in this proceeding.  They were in the applicants' prefiled evidence.  This is all material that took place before November 1.  All of these items were in place before this application was filed. 

So for those reasons, the applicants do not rely on any of the events that have taken place that some of the other intervenors have referred to, since this application was first filed on November 1st. 

I would also like to point out that in the applicants' prefiled evidence at schedule C1, 1 and C1, 2 -- and I don't think it is necessary for anybody to turn to those now -- but I want to draw your attention to those items because there was some suggestion in the submissions before lunch, perhaps, that the Board may not have enough information about the programs, whether they have been established or not, to do any kind of comparison to see whether the applicants' programs that they propose are, in fact, duplicative, as opposed to being non-duplicative. 

So the argument on that -- in that regard that I will give you shows not only that they are non-duplicative, but also it goes to the establishment issue.

At schedule C1, 1, the applicants filed 58 pages setting out what the OPA programs are, and the applicants could hardly have done that had the OPA programs not been established.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, are you referring to the schedules that we just got the other day? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  This is in the applicants' original prefiled evidence.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Schedule C1, 1.

At schedule C1, 2 in the applicants' prefiled evidence, there are 67 pages of description about the applicants' proposed Board-approved CDM programs. 

So in my respectful submission, the depth and breadth of that evidence shows two things.

Number one, not only that the OPA programs were established and they were established long before the applicants filed their application, but secondly, that the Board will have ample evidence once it looks at those schedules and hears the evidence of the witnesses, to determine that, in fact, the Board-approved programs proposed by the applicants are incremental, non-duplicative and complementary to the Board's programs.

I would also like to point out that at section 4.2 of the prefiled evidence, and that is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 2, section 4.2 -– again, it is not necessary to turn to that now -- at pages 14 to 18, the applicants have filed submissions going four or five pages on the non-duplicative nature of the Board-approved programs that the applicants are applying for, and why they are incremental to and non-duplicative of the OPA programs.

Furthermore, there were numerous IR questions months ago on that issue of whether the applicants' programs were non-duplicative, and the applicants have answered all of those interrogatories as well.

Finally, in the letter sent to the Board by the OPA, dated January 26th, the OPA itself said that the applicants had accurately described the OPA's programs and that the OPA believes that the Hydro One programs, after their evaluation of them, are in fact incremental and complementary to the OPA's programs. 

When we get into the evidence later on and the witnesses have been sworn in, the witnesses will certainly be able to testify to the fact that has been alluded to, I think, by a couple of the intervenors here today, that Hydro One witnesses worked closely with the OPA on the OPA programs, and the Hydro One witnesses are in an excellent position to give further evidence that the OPA's programs were established last summer and last fall, long before the applicants filed their application. 

So in our submission, that puts -- should put to rest the issue of whether the OPA's programs were established and whether the Board has enough evidence before it to do an analysis during the hearing of whether the OPA programs and the Hydro One programs are non-duplicative. 

I would like to move on now to the final matter, which is the question of whether the applicants filed a program evaluation plan based on the OPA's EM&V protocols. 

The first thing I want to set out here is that there seems to be some confusion as to whether the OPA has EM&V protocols.  I have heard some people say that they are in draft.

In our respectful submission, that is not the case.  The OPA's EM&V protocols were issued in 2008.  They are still in effect. 

You will hear from the witnesses during the hearing that Hydro One based its EM&V plan on those protocols, which were in effect in 2008, 2009.  They were in effect when Hydro One prepared its evidence that it filed in November, and they are still in effect today.

It is true that there are some considerations being given by the OPA to changing those protocols.  There is a draft of some changes that are proposed to be made.

You will be hearing from the Hydro One witnesses, when they give their testimony, that there are no substantial changes.  Even if there were, my submission would be to the effect that that would not matter, because the application was based on programs -- on EM&V protocols that are still in existence.

I would submit that to say that the fact that there are draft revisions circulating to the OPA's EM&V protocols now, and to the argument that that might mean that we don't have final protocols, would be akin to an argument that because the Ontario Energy Board Act, for example, has been amended over 25 times since 1999 and may be amended again twice next year, that we don't have a final Ontario Energy Board Act.

That is not the case.

The Distribution System Code has been amended many times, and at any given time there may be some suggestions circulating as to how to amend it.

The fact is that until such time as amendments have taken place, we do have a final Distribution System Code and we do have final EM&V protocols that are in effect right now.

So the second part, then, is:  Have the applicants complied with the requirements set out in the CDM Code issued by the Board concerning what needed to be filed?

Hydro One submits that it has done, in reading the requirements set out in the code, whatever any LDC in this province could do.  Hydro One has complied with everything in the listed documentation that is within its power to do.

Some of the intervenors have pointed out some items that have not been done, but I would point out that the items that they are choosing in order to bring that to your attention are items that are elements that have to be completed by an auditor, and they cannot be completed until later.

In my submission, when the Board looks at the code, the Board needs to look at the code not only in its purposive test, as has been suggested by a number of the intervenors, but the Board must also look at it in a way that makes sense out of the code and does not deliberately turn it into something that does not make sense.

Therefore, if there are any elements in there that you find that cannot be completed by an LDC at this point, then the LDC applicant should not be held to those particular points.

For example, an applicant cannot contract with a third-party vendor, first of all, until the applicant knows whether the programs are going to be approved.  It just doesn't make sense to do so, from a cost point of view and from a practicality point of view.

Secondly, the elements can't be determined until the third-party vendor is chosen, because the third-party vendor is going to supply input as to how the program will actually be deployed.  Thirdly --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just want to interject for a moment.

The question is not that there be an evaluation performed, but the requirement is that an evaluation plan be filed.  That is not beyond the -- beyond your power to do, is it?

MR. ENGELBERG:  It is partly correct, Mr. Sommerville, and what you will be hearing from the witnesses -- and I think I am not the first person today who has said this.  I have heard this from a couple of others.

On this particular point, the EM&V - and Ms. Abouchar just stated it as well - in our respectful submission, you will need the evidence of the witnesses to tell you which parts of the plan have been completed, whether all the parts that the applicant can complete have been done, what remains to be done and whether and why -- to the question that you raised, Mr. Sommerville, whether and why some parts of it are needed not to perform the evaluation, but to design the evaluation that must be, in fact, performed.

And in that regard, the third-party vendor -- one of the benefits of putting this out to an RFP - and you will be hearing this from the witnesses - is that different vendors will come forward with different deployment programs, and the evaluation measures that will then be used by the auditor, who will be chosen, will depend on what the program deployment principles are.

And that cannot be done now.  It is not just the evaluation that can't be done now.  Part of the design of the evaluation, part of what the auditor is going to determine should be done and what the criteria should be, cannot be done until the program deployment and delivery items have been determined.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Surely it could be done on the basis of your proposals.  Surely you could take the proposal, the program that you propose to implement, and provide it to an auditor and say, We need to develop -- as part of the requirement under the code, we have to develop an evaluation plan so the Board can determine not simply whether the project or the program pass muster, but also that the evaluation portion has been thought through and that you have a reasonable approach to the evaluation subject matter.  That is why this requirement is here.

Surely the way to do that is to provide the program that you have to the auditor and say, Yeah, we need to work together to provide an evaluation program for this thing.

That doesn't mean that -- again, this is quite a distinct question as to the actual evaluation that is conducted, but it seems to me that that is -- this is not some mysterious process.

This is a garden-variety requirement.

MR. ENGELBERG:  One might assume that, Mr. Sommerville.  I understand what it is that you are saying, but one thing I learned in hearing the evidence of the witnesses, both at the technical conference and of course outside the technical conference, which I have had the benefit of doing - and hopefully this Board will have the benefit of hearing them - they will be able to give an explanation to you as to the wide variety of submissions that they expect to receive from third-party vendors as to how to deploy these programs that would result in totally different methods and means of evaluating those programs by the third-party evaluator.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That may be of greater concern, because then the Board needs to know how these programs are going to be implemented before we can reasonably assess their appropriateness.  Isn't that so?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That is so, but the applicants can assure you now that all the elements of the program have been designed.  It is only the deployment that may change, which may affect some of the results and the uptake and the success and speed with which some of the programs result in savings as opposed to some of the other programs.

And that is one reason why I assumed that -- I believe it is the CDM Code, itself, says that the applicants must come back and make a report once a year to the Board to see how things are going, and I assume that is for the purpose of evaluating whether perhaps some focus should be shifted from some programs on to other programs.

MS. TAYLOR:  If I may, Mr. Engelberg, I find this very difficult that you wouldn't have a deployment plan in mind.

I mean, you have some experience with CDM.  It really is quite analogous to a capital program, that you are going to come and apply for an amount, you would like to construct something.  You would have a deployment plan on how you are thinking of deploying resources over time, seasonality, and there is more than one way to deploy construction task teams.

I find it very bizarre that you want to come in and -- I don't think you would do it on a transformer, to come in and say, I am going to apply for this transformer.  I would like you to approve it, and, by the way, we are going to come in afterwards and tell you, on a retrospective basis, how we deployed it and the way we could have deployed the labour, and it was a huge spectrum of different opportunities with different outcomes.

I don't think that the Board would accept it in that situation, and it is not clear to me how CDM programs are that much different from any other program that involves the expenditure of capital, the planning of implementation and deployment, and then the back-end measurement of effectiveness.

MS. HARE:  If I could just add to that, because I thought you heard you say that depending on the deployment, that would affect the participation rates and the uptake of the programs.

Well, isn't that critical to our ability to approve these, or not? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think part of the problem stems here from the fact that I am using "deployment" in a much narrower sense than I believe that it was used in Ms. Taylor's question, and perhaps in yours as well. 

Some of the elements that you mentioned, Ms. Taylor, in your question are, in fact, already in the Hydro One programs.

For example, in the evidence that has been filed with the Board, for example, the -- I believe you said the number of personnel involved, and other items like that. 

So I am using it in a narrower sense, perhaps deployment strategy, and some of those details.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, you haven't acquired all of your personnel at this juncture, as I took from the technical conference discussion and certain other evidence filed.

So, again, if those numbers -- we will discuss them, I suppose, in due course, but they're not all in there right now, and there still is some, I suspect, ultimate ambiguity of those numbers.

MR. ENGELBERG:  There are proposals in Hydro One's application - and these were fleshed out in greater detail at the technical conference - as to how many people would be employed or contracted for to administer the programs, and even -- I think even their burdened salary was discussed.

So again, when I refer to "deployment" I am referring perhaps to a narrower sense than you are, but I do believe that you will hear from the witnesses -- and this is our submission -- that on this particular point, as opposed to the first three points that everyone has been dealing with today, it will be necessary for you to hear evidence from the applicants' witnesses as to the depth and breadth of the EM&V plan that has been put together to date and whether it, in fact, satisfies the requirements of the Board.

Some of the items can be determined; they're exclusively legal matters.  But on this particular point, in our respectful submission, it will be necessary for you to hear evidence.  That is one reason why we brought the panel with us today.

MS. HARE:  But I think the question, Mr. Engelberg, is whether or not you satisfied the requirements of the code, which said that you were supposed to file a program evaluation plan with your application. 

And instead, your evidence shows that you were planning to do that after you get Board approval. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Our answer to that is we are not planning to do that after we get Board approval. 

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, that contradicts when you said in the technical conference.  I read those transcripts.

MR. ENGELBERG:  One of the things that you will be hearing if the witnesses go on the stand is that they would like to clarify some of what they said at the technical conference, and they would like to be given an opportunity to do that. 

Hydro One's position is that it has done whatever can be done, not just by it, not just by any difficulties facing Hydro One, but by any LDC.

And because of the fact that the CDM Code has to be read in a way that makes it possible for an applicant to do these things, Hydro One submits that it has complied with the code.

MS. HARE:  I am not sure that you were finished your submissions before we interjected. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon.  I did interject.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think that I have, but let me look at my notes, if you will give me a moment. 

MS. HARE:  Okay. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have finished.  Thank you. 

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Warren, the first two questions were yours, so do you want to make any reply submissions?  I'm sorry, Ms. Taylor has something.

MS. TAYLOR:  I do, and I have to ask about the January 26th letter from the OPA, which -- you don't need to pull it up, but when I read it, the OPA responded to a question asked by Hydro One that the programs that you were planning to -- or had filed at that juncture with the Board, were complementary and incremental.  It did not use the word "duplicative" so the response you got back from the OPA on the 26th says:  As far as we understand the programs that you have filed with the Board, we understand them to be complementary and incremental.  They did not use the word "non-duplicative".

So as of July, when the OPA Board approved the budget and -- at least notionally, at that point -- the province-wide programs, you have filed, you know, matured your evidence and filed with us, and you believe there is enough evidence if we bootstrap it all together that we can determine whether or not there is no duplication.

Is that what you are telling me?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Not merely incremental and complementary.  Is there any evidence on the record to suggest that the OPA has said -- because I couldn't find it -- that they are in fact non-duplicative?

MR. ENGELBERG: To my knowledge, they didn't use the word "duplicative" in our submission, the difference between duplicative -- the January 26th --


MS. TAYLOR:  I don't believe your mic is on, sorry.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Sorry. 

MS. TAYLOR:  That's okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The January 26th letter did not use the word "duplicative".  You are correct.

In our respectful submission, that is a distinction without a difference.  If something is complementary and incremental, by very definition, it is duplicative.

MS. TAYLOR:  So then why did you not ask them for a letter, given that the standard in the directive is non-duplicative, to absolve any sort of ambiguity or useless discussion, perhaps, in front of the Panel and the Board? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  My assumption -- but I can't speak for the OPA -- is similar to the letter they issued yesterday, when they were responding to the Board's questions about whether the programs were established. 

MS. TAYLOR:  Which they did not opine on.  They said it was up to us, in essence, to determine, but did not take a view on it.  And they also --


MR. ENGELBERG:  That's right.  And I think my understanding is they likely did exactly the same thing with the January 26th letter.

They felt that it was for the Board to determine.  The magic words in the Board's documents are "establish" and magic words in the Board documents were "duplicative".

So my interpretation of what they did was they provided the Board, in those two letters, they provided factual answers as to the steps that had been taken to enable the Board to determine whether, in fact, the programs had been established, and they provided information as to their view in the earlier letter as to their view of the Hydro One programs to enable the Board to have information to make the determination as to whether the Hydro One programs were duplicative or non-duplicative.

I don't think they wanted to use the words that were the very words that the OPA -- excuse me, that the OEB is going to have to make its decision on. 

They were there to provide factual information.

MS. TAYLOR:  So the directive, the directive says "non-duplicative".

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And "established".  Those are not the Board's words.  The Board has no definition for those words.

So you are telling me that in your correspondence with the OPA, you chose to introduce new words that may have different meanings than those that are contained in the directive, and that the Board somehow is going to split the difference; is that what you are telling me? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Not at all.  First of all, Hydro One did not choose the words. 

MS. TAYLOR:  You asked them in your letter -- according to the OPA, you wrote a letter to the OPA, to which they responded on January the 26th. 

And the letter, if I recall the words, said you asked us to opine or give you an opinion whether or not the programs were complementary and incremental.

And so they responded to you in the manner that you asked the question.  They are incremental and complementary, as far as they understood what you were filing.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I can't -- I don't have the information in front of me as to what Hydro One asked.

What I am submitting to you today is that my understanding of what the OPA has done is attempted to provide, in both letters, some factual information and context that will enable this Board to make a decision as to whether the programs are, in fact, duplicative and whether they have been established.

One of the reasons we have a three-member witness panel here today is for them to give evidence as to how the programs that Hydro One came up with are non-duplicative of the OPA programs.

And as I pointed out a few moments ago in my submissions, Hydro One filed prefiled evidence of 58 pages on November 1, setting out the OPA programs, and 67 pages setting out the Hydro One programs; and the witnesses are prepared to tell you how the programs differ, how they are non-duplicative, how they are complementary to each other.

I can't say any more.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, do you want to take --


MR. BRETT:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Yes, sir.

MR. BRETT:  I like Mr. Warren.  I think he is a fine counsel.  I do not think it is fair to give Mr. Warren a right of reply in this situation, at least to the Board's two questions.

MS. HARE:  No, not to the Board's two questions.  To the two questions he raised.

MR. BRETT:  I have concerns even about that.  He is not an applicant, but if he does that, then I think it should be confined to those first two questions.

MS. HARE:  Correct.  I agree.
Further Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Let me premise my response by saying I now know I can retire, because I know that Mr. Brett likes me.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  I have only two submissions -- and, actually, it is one.  I don't propose to respond to the substance of what my friends have said.  I do think it important to emphasize this.  This is the first opportunity the Board has to consider these very important issues, and if the Board is to draw any conclusions from what they have heard today, it is that reasonable people can disagree on what the criteria of the test should be, and that it is essential that the Board establish what the tests will be that it will apply, so that all of the applicants coming in will know what -- all of the parties will know what submissions are to be made.

I would extend that to say that I submit, with respect, that the Board should give an account, its interpretation, of the relevant sections of the act, but whether it does or it doesn't in its analytical framework, it is important, in my respectful submission, that the Board set out what the tests are.

Those are my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything on the Board's question two questions that you would want to add in terms of reply?

MR. MILLAR:  I think the short answer is no, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  No.  Good.

Okay, the Board is going to -- Mr. Shepherd, do you have something to say?
Further Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  As I said at the beginning of the session, I did want to raise two disclosure issues before we ended the day, so I wanted to remind you.

MS. HARE:  Please go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you want me to do that now?

MS. HARE:  Yes, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the technical conference, there were quite a number of refusals.  As you said, you read the technical conference.  You have seen all the refusals.  I am not going to raise all of them.  There are two of them, in particular, that involve information that will take some time to look at on the part of intervenors.

And you are presumably going away to think about whether you want to delay this proceeding and adjourn it, whatever.

And rather than come back at some point in the future, whether Monday or three weeks from now, and say, Oh, by the way, we need this and we need some time to look at it, I would like to raise it now.  There are two of them.

The first is, in both of these applications, one of the primary support documents is the calculation of TRC for the Board-approved programs.

This has been described in the technical conference.  I don't actually have the reference for this, but it is in the technical conference as a massive model.  And it is, indeed, fairly complicated.

It was -- this was requested initially by Mr. Poch on the first day of the technical conference, and the reference is page 149, and then subsequently the refusal is actually on the second day of the technical conference at pages 3 and 4, when we also asked for it, as well as Mr. Poch.

So that -- I also draw your attention to page 155 of the -- page 2 of the -- sorry, volume 2 of the technical conference, in which we asked specifically for the Brampton TRC calculations.

So these are things that, in our view, are clearly relevant, as they're the basis for the cost effectiveness of these programs, and have been refused and will take some time to look at.  So that is the first component.

The second component is School Energy Coalition asked on the second day of the technical conference, at pages 109 and again at page 134, for the overall budget of the CDM department and the overall FTEs for the CDM department, so that we could figure out how this stuff, the new stuff that is in this application, fits into it.  If there are six new people and those six new people are fitting into a department that already has 100 people, that is a different question than if it is a department of three.

So that was refused.  Again, that is the sort of thing -- the full budget of the department and the FTEs is something that will take us some time to analyze and to compare perhaps to US utilities and things like that.  It is not something we can look at on the fly.

So we are going to ask, and we are asking the Board to order the production of those documents, not necessarily today, obviously - or maybe today, that would be great - but as early as possible so that we have time to look at them before we have to do our cross-examination of these witnesses.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Poch.
Further Submissions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  As you heard from Mr. Shepherd, I had raised one of these points initially.  Another matter that Mr. Shepherd raised that I was getting at was this question of the relationship between incentive costs and program costs.

The Board will be aware that if, for example, incentive costs are a relatively low proportion of the budget, you could raise the incentive pay to potential participants and improve performance with a relatively small change in the budget, because it is starting off at a low amount.

We have no sense of what that is, because we haven't -- they refused to answer that question when Mr. Shepherd posed it, because they said it would disclose commercially sensitive information.

It would be, of course, something we could distill out of the TRC spreadsheets, presumably, and so I guess I am really anticipating that my friends will be concerned about commercial sensitivity, and obviously the Board has a procedure to deal with that.  And just anticipating that I, for one, will certainly be willing to make the appropriate undertakings, if that is a concern.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Engelberg, could you comment on the disclosure of these materials?  But I must say, you know, I was rather surprised, in reading the technical conference transcripts, why you wouldn't give basic information, in terms of how many people are in your CDM unit, for example.

You said you will leave that to the hearing.  I don't understand why you wouldn't have done that in the technical conference, but, anyway, I will let you answer as to whether or not these three things are possible to provide.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, let me deal with them, if I may, in the order that my friends have dealt with them.

Regarding the TRC, we have the inputs available.  We provided all of them in six interrogatories from Board Staff.  And I can list which ones they were, but I don't think it is important to do that now.

In addition, the applicants can provide the TRC model itself, which I believe is perhaps what the intervenors are most concerned with.

Regarding spreadsheets, the fact is that we do not have any spreadsheets.  The TRC model, itself, is so large and massive that we can provide it on a memory stick, I believe, but it can't even be e-mailed it is so large.

We are willing to do that, but there just are no spreadsheets, I am told.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just to be clear, then, are you undertaking to provide the model, and then, for each of the six programs, the relevant assumptions that you would have put into the model to determine the TRC?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have to check with my clients, but my understanding is that the inputs have already been provided in answers to OEB interrogatories 7(b), 18(b), 25(b), 33(b), 39(b), and 48(b).

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so I understand your proposal, you provide them with a blank model, and you have provided them with inputs, and so it would be their task to enter the inputs so that they could run the model populated with the inputs, and then come out the other end with the TRC determination.  Is that --


MR. ENGELBERG:  I believe that is the case.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would there be any problem with you simply providing the run that you did?

MR. ENGELBERG:  May I consult with my clients for a few minutes?  Would this perhaps be a good time to take --


MS. HARE:  Sure.  Let's take a ten-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 3:32 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:50 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated. 

Okay.  Mr. Engelberg, we left you with a question of whether or not you would provide the TRC runs of the model.

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's correct. 

First of all, let me -- there were two items.  It was the TRC and the budget --


MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. ENGELBERG:  -- questions.  Assuming that the hearing proceeds -- because I am hearing from the Panel that it may make a determination within the next couple of days that the hearing won't proceed -- so here is what the applicants are prepared to do if it is determined that the hearing will, in fact, proceed. 

Regarding the TRC, the models that the applicants used are full of confidential information.  However, the applicants are willing to provide the populated models, which I understand what the -- I understand that to be what the intervenors want, the populated models, provided they sign the confidentiality agreement to the Board.

But again, there was also a question of confidentiality agreements earlier in this proceeding, and what the applicants said at the time -- and I believe it was accepted -- was that potential third-party service providers would not be eligible to sign the confidentiality agreements and get the information.

So anybody but a third-party service provider who signs the confidentiality agreement, yes, the applicants will provide the populated models with the confidential information.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  Thank you. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Regarding the CDM budget, the applicants are willing to give the two items that were requested; number one, the number of full time FTEs, and number two, the budget, which would be the last approved budget from the distribution application, which is for 2011.

MS. HARE:  Okay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Madam Chair, neither of those is what we asked for.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  What did you ask for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first one was a breakdown of the FTEs in the entire department, broken down by Board-approved programs, OPA programs and other, and broken down into areas so that we can see what they're doing.  That was the first thing.

The second thing is with respect to the budget, we are not looking at the budget that was in the 2011 distribution rate case, because that has been superseded already.

We are looking at the current budget that they're expecting for the current period, which is -- will of course be new, because they have now got new programs and substantial new targets.

That is what we asked for and what was refused. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry, Members of the Panel.  I wasn't aware that those were the questions.  I don't think the other people here from the applicants were, as well.

Instead of taking the time of the Board now, could you grant us until early next week to answer that, both of them?

MS. HARE:  I think that is fine.  That is fine.  But you will work on the models, the TRC models? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  You will have those available?  Okay.  Is that suitable --


MR. SHEPHERD:  May I ask one clarification as well? 

And that is, did I understand the Board to be saying that it agrees that the models are confidential?  Or rather, that they are putatively confidential until submissions are made on that point?

MS. HARE:  Well, that's correct.  We don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  So we will treat them as confidential, we will look at them, and then we will have submissions as to whether they should be held in confidence or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just didn't want a misunderstanding.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that would be subject to the usual protections, Mr. Engelberg, which would mean that there would not be a publication until such time as you had an opportunity to withdraw the document, in fact, under those circumstances.

That is what our procedures would provide for.

So worst-case scenario is that they remain confidential within the protection of the undertakings, and that if the Board was to decide that it was a public document, then we would address that separately. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  The Board will adjourn to consider the submissions made today.  We will reconvene at Monday at 9:30. 

If the Board decides over the weekend that we will not reconvene on Monday, recognizing that some people are from out of town, we will make reasonable efforts through Board Counsel to advise parties. 

If the Board does reconvene now or in the future, it will be particularly important for the applicant to provide a definitive concordance or mapping between the OPA programs and the proposed Board programs, to ensure that we have a convenient and accurate representation of the programs, so that all parties may make informed judgments regarding duplication.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just have one question.

MS. HARE:  Yes, sir.

MR. ENGELBERG:  At what point would that concordance need to be provided?  I mean, surely not Monday morning? 

MS. HARE:  Well, on the assumption that we would convene Monday, it would be as soon as possible, because as you know, whether or not the programs are duplicative or not are at the core of this decision. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand.

MS. HARE:  So as soon as possible.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  And if, in fact, we do adjourn, well, then you have got more time, but I think you should assume that we are meeting on Monday. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Alexander? 

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just so I understand, so I presume when you say "reconvene" that if you say adjourn that you will -- the Panel will reach a decision that the hearing will be adjourned, rather than your decision.

I am just trying to understand, are we reconvening to hear your decision, and then if you decide that -- if you decide the hearing is going to be adjourned, it just may not be worthwhile to come in just for that.

MS. HARE:  Well, that's what we wanted to avoid.  Recognizing that some people are from out of town, we don't want them to come on Monday just to hear we are adjourning.  So there will be e-mail.  Mike Millar will take care of that.

But I think at this point, assume that we are meeting on Monday.

I see some other questions, perhaps?  Or just people unplugging?

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:56 p.m.
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